

NEAR EAST UNIVERSITY

INSTITUTE OF GRADUATE STUDIES

DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR MEDICINE

Association between PAI-1 4G/5G polymorphism and

COVID-19 patients who infected with different SARS-CoV-2 variants

M.Sc. THESIS IN MOLECULAR MEDICINE

Evren MOĞOL

Nicosia

May, 2022

NEAR EAST UNIVERSITY

INSTITUTE OF GRADUATE STUDIES

DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR MEDICINE

Association between PAI-1 4G/5G polymorphism and

COVID-19 patients who infected with different SARS-CoV-2 variants

M.Sc. THESIS IN MOLECULAR MEDICINE

Evren MOĞOL

THESIS SUPERVISOR

Assoc. Prof. Mahmut Çerkez ERGÖREN

Dr. Gökçe AKAN

Nicosia

May, 2022

Approval

We certify that we have read the thesis submitted by titled "Association between PAI-1 4G/5G polymorphism and COVID-19 patients who infected with different SARS-CoV-2 variants" and that in our combined opinion it is fully adequate, in scope and in quality, as a thesis for the degree of Master of Educational Sciences.

Examining Committee

Name-Surname

Committee Member (Supervisor): Assoc. Prof. Mahmut Cerkez Ergoren

Committee Member:

Committee Member:

Asist. Prof. Özel Yuruker

Dr. Gulten Tuncel Dereboylu

Approved by the Head of the Department



Signature

Prof. Dr. Selma Yılmaz

Head of Department

Approved by the Institute of Graduate Studies

...../06/2022 mal Hüsnü Can Başer Prof. Institute

1



YAKIN DOĞU ÜNİVERSİTESİ BİLİMSEL ARAŞTIRMALAR ETİK KURULU

ARAŞTIRMA PROJESİ DEĞERLENDİRME RAPORU

| Toplantı Tarihi | :27.01.2022 |
|-----------------|-------------|
| Toplantı No | :2022/99 |
| Proje No | :1486 |

Yakın Doğu Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi öğretim üyelerinden Doç. Dr. Mahmut Çerkez Ergören'in sorumlu araştırmacısı olduğu, YDU/2022/99-1486 proje numaralı ve "Investigating the association between PAI-1 4G/5G polymorphism and COVID-19 patients who infected with different SARS-CoV-2 variants" başlıklı proje önerisi kurulumuzca değerlendirilmiş olup, etik olarak uygun bulunmuştur.

L-Sah

Prof. Dr. Şanda Çalı Yakın Doğu Üniversitesi Bilimsel Araştırmalar Etik Kurulu Başkanı

| Kurul Üyesi | Toplantıya Katılım | Karar |
|------------------------------|--------------------------|------------------|
| | Katıldı(✔)/ Katılmadı(X) | Onay(✓)/ Ret(X) |
| Prof. Dr. Tamer Yılmaz | .1 | 1 |
| Prof. Dr. Şahan Saygı | 1 | 1 |
| Prof. Dr. Nurhan Bayraktar | / | / |
| Prof. Dr. Mehmet Özmenoğlu | X | X |
| Prof. Dr. İlker Etikan | 1 | 1 |
| Doç. Dr. Mehtap Tınazlı | 1 | 1 |
| Doç. Dr. Nilüfer Galip Çelik | 1 | 1 |
| Doç. Dr. Emil Mammadov | 1 | 1 |
| Doç. Dr. Ali Cenk Özay | X | Х |

Declaration

I hereby declare that all information, documents, analysis and results in this thesis have been collected and presented according to the academic rules and ethical guidelines of Institute of Graduate Studies, Near East University. I also declare that as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced information and data that are not original to this study

Evren Moğol

...../...../.....

Acknowledgements

I give my sincerest gratitude to those who assisted me in the undertaking of this research

My supervisors Assoc. Prof. Mahmut Ç. Ergören and Dr. Gökçe Akan, for their enthusiasm for the project, for their consistent support, encouragement and guidance during the running of this project,

Dr. Gülten Tuncel for her assistance in my time of need,

Near East University Covid Lab team for their contributions to sample collection,

Perihan Erkan Alkan for her guidance on the decision of my master program,

My brother, who kept my head up when I was distressed,

And to my parents, who set me off on the road to this MSc a long time ago.

Evren Moğol

ABSTRACT

Association between PAI-1 4G/5G polymorphism and

COVID-19 patients who infected with different SARS-CoV-2 variants

Moğol, Evren

MA, Department of Molecular Medicine

May,2020

AIM:

This study aims to investigate the association between *PAI-1* 4G/5G polymorphism and COVID-19 patients who infected with Delta or Omicron (B.1) SARS-CoV-2 variants.

BACKGROUND:

The COVID-19 disease is a potentially fatal infection that caused the loss of millions all over the world and has left some survivors with ongoing health issues. An infection of the respiratory system can be caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus; this illness can affect either the upper or lower respiratory tracts. This coronavirus, like most other coronaviruses, is mostly transmitted from person to person by close contact. The severity of the illness might fluctuate from mild to severe at any given time.

Variable COVID-19 symptoms include fever, cough, headache, exhaustion, and loss of smell and taste. The majority of infected persons may experience mild to moderate symptoms, whereas only 14 percent may develop severe symptoms and 5 percent may suffer life-threatening symptoms such as respiratory failure or multi-organ dysfunction. The symptoms that are most common are mild to moderate. Individuals above the age of 65 have a significantly increased risk of developing severe symptoms. In certain patients, there have been reports of organ damage as well as a range of effects following recovery. Ongoing studies spanning many years are being conducted in order to investigate the COVID-19's potential long-term effects.

New, more infectious variants such as Omicron and Delta have emerged over the course of the pandemic as the SARS-CoV-2 genome mutated. The pathophysiology of COVID-

19 involves a number of different signaling pathways and biological components, one of which is PAI-1. PAI-1 is responsible for regulating fibrinolysis, and it has been discovered that severe COVID-19 patients have a significantly increased risk of thrombosis as a result of PAI-1 overexpression. Numerous research are undertaken to analyze the impact of PAI-1 within the context of the COVID19 pandemic.

METHODS:

A total number of 408 individuals who admitted to Near East University Hospital COVID-19 PCR Diagnosis Laboratory for routine SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR test were used in this study. The control group consisted of individuals who were SARS-CoV-2 RT-qPCR negative. On the other hand, the case group consisted of patients who were SARS-CoV-2 RT-qPCR positive for the Delta or Omicron variants of SARS-CoV-2.

The SARS-CoV-2 positive patients were included to variant identifying analysis by using TaqMan allele specific primers for mutations of SARS-CoV-2 Delta or Omicron variant. The variant identifying analysis was done by use of Multiplex SARS-CoV-2 VOC RT-qPCR identifying kit (Near East University, Nicosia, Cyprus) according to manufactory instructions.

RESULTS:

A total number of 408 individuals who admitted to Near East University Hospital COVID-19 PCR Diagnosis Laboratory for routine SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR test was used in this study to investigate the allelic frequencies of SERPINE1 -675 4G/5G polymorphism (rs1799889) in COVID-19 patients who are infected by SARS-CoV-2 Delta or Omicron variants and compared them with those who were tested negative for SARS-CoV-2 as a control group. The results indicated that there is a strong association between The PAI-1 -675 4G/5G polymorphism and increased risk of SARS-CoV-2 Delta variant compared to Omicron BA.1 variant infection.

CONCLUSION:

In the current study, our main objective was to identify if there is an association between PAI-1 -675 4G/5G polymorphism and COVID-19 causing the SARS-CoV-2 Delta and Omicron (B.1) variant.

To sum up, the results of this study displayed higher risk of infection from the Delta variant compared to the Omicron variant for the individuals who have the PAI-1 -675 4G/5G polymorphism.

Key Words: thrombosis, omicron, PAI-1, SARS-CoV-2, polymorphism, delta

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| APPROVAL | 1 |
|-----------------------|----|
| DECLARATION | 3 |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | 4 |
| ABSTRACT | 5 |
| TABLE OF CONTENTS | 8 |
| LIST OF TABLES | 11 |
| LIST OF FIGURES | 11 |
| LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS | 12 |
| | |

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

| 1.1 Introduction | 13 |
|---|----|
| 1.2 A New Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) | 13 |
| 1.2.1 Etiology | 14 |
| 1.2.2 Pathogenesis | 15 |
| 1.3 SARS-CoV-2 Genomic Evolution and Survival | 16 |
| 1.3.1 Viral Classification and Nomenclature Tools | 17 |
| 1.3.2 Variants of Concern (VOC) | 18 |
| 1.3.3 Variants of Interest (VOI) | 19 |
| 1.4 SARS-CoV-2 Variant Pathogenesis and Host Response | 21 |
| 1.5 Human Genetic Variations | 22 |
| 1.5.1 Genetic polymorphism and COVID-19 | 23 |
| 1.5.2 COVID-19 and Thrombosis | 24 |
| 1.5.3 The SERPINE1 (PAI-1) Gene and Diseases | 25 |
| 1.5.4 PAI-1 4G/5G variation and COVID-19 | 26 |
| 1.6 Work in thesis | 27 |

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

| 2.1 Materials | |
|-----------------|--|
| 2.1.1 Suppliers | |

| 2.1. 2 Sample Collection |
|--|
| 2.1.3 Chemical Reagents |
| 2.1.3.1 Molecular Weight Markers |
| 2.1.3.2 Oligonucleotide Primers |
| 2.1.3.3 Enzymes |
| 2.1.3.4 Standard Solutions |
| 2.1.3.5 Other Chemical Agents |
| 2.1.3.6 Computers |
| 2.2 Methods |
| 2.2.1 SARS-CoV-2 Detection by Nucleic Acid Testing (NAT) |
| 2.2.2 SARS-CoV-2 Mutation Typing and Variant Identifying using TaqMan Allele |
| Specific Primers (ASPs) |
| 2.2.3 Nucleic Acid Extraction |
| 2.2.4 Amplifying PAI Gene Target Regions by Conventional PCR31 |
| 2.2.5 Genotyping PAI Gene 4G/5G Polymorphisms by Restriction Fragment Length |
| Polymorphisms (RFLPs) |
| 2.2.6 Statistical Analysis |

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

| 3.1 Introduction | 34 |
|--|------------|
| 3.2 General characteristics of the study group | 34 |
| 3.3 Allelic and genotypic distribution frequency of PAI-1 -675 4G/5G polymorphism study group. | 1 in 35 |
| 3.4 The distribution of PAI-1 6754G/5G polymorphism in the patients with SARS-C 2 Delta and Omicron BA.1 variants | oV- 36 |
| 3.5 Analysis of PAI-1 6754G/5G polymorphism based on the four genetic inheritance models in the patients with SARS-CoV-2 Delta and Omicron BA.1 variants | e 37 |

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

| 4.1 Introduction | 0 |
|--|----|
| 4.2 The association between PAI-1 -675 4G/5G polymorphism and COVID-19 diseases4 | 41 |
| 4.3 The impact of PAI-1 -675 4G/5G polymorphism on COVID-19 patients4 | 1 |

| 4.4 Conclusion | 43 |
|-----------------------------------|----|
| 4.5 Final remarks and future work | 44 |

CHAPTER 5: REFERENCES

| 5 |
|---|
| 4 |

List of Tables

| Table 1: The sequence of PAI-1 forward and reverse primers for multiplex PCR | .29 |
|--|-----------|
| Table 2. Master Mixture composition for PAI-1PCR | .31 |
| Table 3. Thermal cycling conditions for PAI-1 PCR | .31 |
| Table 4. RFLP mixture for PAI-14G/5G polymorphism | .32 |
| Table 5: The genotypic and allelic frequency distributions of PAI-1 -675 4G/5G SNP is the study group | in .35 |
| Table 6: Analysis of SNPs based on the four genetic inheritance models | .38 |

List of Figures

| Figure 1: PAI-1 675 4G/5G polymorphism genotype distribution. | .36 |
|---|-----|
| Figure 2: The distribution of PAI-1 6754G/5G polymorphism of the SARS-CoV-2 | |
| Delta and Omicron BA.1 variants patients | .37 |

List of Abbreviations

ACE2: Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2

bp: Base pair

cDNA: Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid

HWE: Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium

MERS-CoV: Middle East Respiratory Syndrome coronavirus

nM: Nanomolar

PAI-1: Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1

PCR: Polymerase chain reaction

qRT- PCR: Quantitative reverse transcriptase – polymerase chain reaction

RBD: receptor binding domain

RNA: Ribonucleic acid

SARS-CoV: Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus

SARS-CoV-2: Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2

SNP: Single nucleotide polymorphism

WHO: World Health Organization

μl: Microliter

µM: Micromolar

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction

Since late 2019, a newly discovered coronavirus strain named SARS-Cov-2 has spread from Wuhan, China. Soon after, the new Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) classified as a pandemic under the name of COVID-19 pandemic by the WHO (Habas et al., 2020).

Millions of patients have suffered poor end results from Covid-19 and a portion of patients who have survived the disease are suffering from permanent health complications (Rauf et al., 2020). As of May 2022, there have been a total of 520 million cases worldwide with 6.2 million cumulative deaths from COVID-19. The United States of America has suffered the greatest causalities with 985.000 total deaths (WHO, 2022).

1.2 A New Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19)

The most common method of transmission for SARS-CoV-2 is via respiratory droplets from the infected individual in forms of breath, cough or close contact conversation. Mentioned droplets could be inhaled, or settle in the individuals' eyes, nose or mouth. Another possibility of transmission is when the droplets contaminate a surface and an uninfected individual interacts with the said surface (Cevik et al., 2020).

Survival of the coronavirus on surfaces depends on the material of the surface it contaminates. While the coronavirus could only survive for hours on surfaces such as cardboard or copper, it can survive up to several days on surfaces like plastic or steel. Fortunately, if an individual does not come in contact with the infected surface in a short duration, the sum of virus will rapidly decline and the remaining amount won't be enough to infect an individual (Rauf et al., 2020).

During the initial months of the pandemic, number of cases doubled at the rate of seven and a half days. In the first and second week of January 2020, the virus expanded to other Chinese provinces mostly due to Chinese New Year migration and Wuhan's status as a transportation center and major railway hub. China recorded roughly 140 new cases every day in January 2020, including two instances in Beijing and one in Shenzhen. Later, official statistics revealed that 6,174 persons had manifested symptoms, and it is conceivable that even more had contracted the disease (CDC Weekly, 2020).

A paper published in The Lancet on January 24, 2020, indicated human transmission, highly suggested personal protective equipment for health care workers, and noted that testing for the virus was necessary due to its "pandemic potential." The WHO designated the coronavirus a worldwide health threat early 2020 and in the March 11th of the same year, pandemic (WHO, 2020).

1.2.1 Etiology

The coronavidae virus family divides into four subtypes of Alpha, Beta, Gamma and Delta, of these mentioned subtypes; the main concerning coronavirus subtype for the human health is Beta Coronaviruses, such as Mers-CoV or the one responsible for the current pandemic, SARS-CoV-2 The remaining three infect mammalians, birds and both of them respectively (Weiss & Leibowitz, 2011).

Coronaviruses envelope their genome; the biggest among the RNA viruses; twice. The first envelopment is achieved by the protein nucleocapsid then three other structural proteins come into plays which are membrane, envelope and the spike protein. The first two is tasked with the construction of the virus; the latter however, is tasked with entering the cell. In achieving this purpose, it is located on the outer membrane of the virus in the form of spikes where the name corona is originated from. Moreover, it is the main indicator of which type of cell it can infect and one of the main proteins to initiate a response from the host (Perlman & Netland, 2009; Weiss & Navas-Martin, 2005).

There have been found seven human CoVs (HCoVs) that are capable of infecting humans (Chan et al., 2013). Common ones such as HCoV-OC43 and HCoV-HKU1 can induce the common cold. Additional ones are SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV (Chen et al., 2020). On average, one out of ten patients experience poor end results from the former, while it is 35 out of 100 for the latter (Chan et al., 2020).

Lu et al., (2020) has found that the genome of the current coronavirus is almost 80% identical to one of the coronaviruses sampled from a bat, while it is about three fourths identical to the initial SARS-COV. Sars-Cov-2 contains a 29.9 kb RNA genome which is single-stranded and positive-sense with more than %66 of them being open reading frames (Kim et al., 2020). These open reading frames are responsible for the translation of 2 proteins which are modified to become 16 different proteins that aren't involved in the structure of the virus but; are involved in the modification of the endoplasmic reticulum of the host cell to turn it into a site for replication of the newly generated virus (Knoops et al., 2008; Masters, 2006). The other %33 of the genome is tasked with encoding the proteins spike, envelope, nucleocapsid and membrane which will form the structure of the virus (Li et al., 2020).

1.2.2 Pathogenesis

The main target of the coronavirus is the cells that are located in the human respiratory system, with the most notably the alveolar endothelial cells that are tasked with the production of the surface of the lungs. Even if its main target of infection is AECs, it can infect any cell that express ACE2 receptor such as macrophages (Chu et al., 2020). Early in the infection, it can replicate at high rates when the innate immune system is compromised (Wölfel et al., 2020). If the virus replicates at high rates, it can cause pathogenesis in the infected tissue and in turn, these cells induce the increase of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines after these occurrences (Ackermann et al., 2020; Channappanavar et al., 2016).

With the increase in the present inflammatory cells, the production of additional cytokines and chemokines are elevated to combat the viral infection. This reaction can be detected with the assessment of cytokine levels in the patients' serum. Plus, the severity of the disease is proportional to these cytokine levels (Huang et al., 2020).

The infected cells can induce apoptosis if two conditions are met. The first one is if there is a soaring amount of viral replication in the beginning of the infection and the second is if there is an immense amount of response from the cytokines that will initiate

Fas/FasL and TRAIL-DR-5 complexes (Rodrigue-Gervais et al., 2014; Varga et al., 2020). An additional factor in these cells' death comes from monocyte macrophages that are capable of the generation of TNF- α . The result of apoptosis is the disruption of the lung structural integrity, mainly the barrier of alveolar cell and the blood vessels where the exchange of oxygen happen and this disruption will lead to vascular leakage and alveolar edema (Channappanavar et al., 2016).

Pericytes are responsible from ensuring the endothelial cell activity remains consistent in blood microvessels (Chen et al., 2020). However, they express one of the highest amounts of ACE2 and if they are infected, it can cause microcirculation abnormalities due to the malfunction of the endothelial cells.

T-cells that are specific for the coronavirus are a must if the host is to be free from the virus and prevent additional damage to the tissues. When SARS-CoV-2 causes an overwhelming inflammatory response, however, TNF- α -mediated cell death lowers the T-cell response, resulting in uncontrolled inflammatory reactions (Channappanavar et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2010). Although SARS-CoV-2 may infect T cells in a non-productive manner, it is unknown if this infection causes T-cell death (Wang et al., 2020). Regardless of the cause, T-cell depletion in the later stages of an infection may increase viral survival and prolong the sickness (Fink & Cookson, 2006).

1.3 SARS-CoV-2 Genomic Evolution and Survival

Throughout human history, viruses have undergone fast evolution, with each new virus there is a new potential for it to be problematic for the health of the mankind. In the last 20 years, the mankind experienced several epidemics from multiple kinds of them, with SARS-CoV-2 being the last (Majumder & Minko, 2021).

RNA viruses usually mutate very fast because they are unable to perform proofreading (Sanjuán, 2016). However, the exoribonuclease (ExoN) domain of nsp14 has been linked to a proofreading process in the coronavirus family (Robson et al., 2020). It is known that the nsp14-ExoN is substantially conserved among CoVs (Gribble et al.,

2020). In spite of the expectation that this would slow or even prevent mutations to occur, there have been multiple variants of SARS-CoV-2 (WHO, 2022).

The main determinant how a coronavirus selects its host and its pathogenicity is its spike glycoprotein, thus it is the primary diagnostic and therapeutic target. It is composed of S1 and S2 subunits and both of them have domains for different purposes. S1 is responsible from the host-cell attachment and this is achieved by the cooperation between RBD and the N-terminal domain. S2, on the other hand, is responsible from the entrance of the virus into the host cell and it has 6 domains compared to S1 subunit's 2. These are: transmembrane, internal fusion peptide, C-terminal, fusion peptide and two heptad-repeat domains (Xia, 2021).

The most notable change in SARS-CoV-2 from its predecessor is an additional site of a furin cleavage in the interception of S1 and S2 subunits and this cleavage is known to make it more infectious (Peacock et al., 2021). Therefore, any additional changes occurring in the S protein could potentially affect SARS-CoV-2's infectivity, and because it is the main target of the both immune cells and possible treatments, it is one of the central places for a mutation to occur (Gupta et al., 2021).

1.3.1 Viral Classification and Nomenclature Tools

It is essential to accurately identify each distinct strain of SARS-CoV-2 to monitor newly developing variations and to provide a prompt reaction in the event that it becomes necessary to do so. As an example, many nations in Europe shut their borders in December 2021 owing to the potential for higher infection rates brought on by the Omicron variant, which was a continuation of measures that had been done previously. It is possible that a bigger number of casualties would have occurred as a consequence of a lengthier reaction time if this variation had not been recognized as promptly as possible. The WHO collects the genetic data of SARS-CoV-2 lineages and stores it in three distinct databases so that it can respond as quickly as possible. Pango, GISIAD, and Nexstream are their respective names. Each database gives researchers from all around the world the opportunity to upload the genomic sequences of their SARS-CoV- 2 strains and provides them with an open-access library of all SARS-CoV-2 strains that have ever been discovered. Because of this mutually beneficial relationship, new approaches to battling the pandemic may be found and implemented much more quickly. It is reasonable to assume that not everyone will be familiar with lineages and sublineages, yet this is still an unreasonable expectation. The WHO established the Technical Advisory Group on Virus Evolution in order to improve the general public's level of knowledge and make the discussion of novel variations more accessible. Prior to this name change, this group was known as the WHO Virus Evolution Working Group. In addition to Pango, GISIAD, and Nexstream officials, this group is comprised of experts in virology and microbiological nomenclature. Because of its ease of use and widespread familiarity, the current approach for recognizing important variations makes use of the letters of the Greek alphabet, such as Omicron or Mu. This choice was made because of the alphabet's simplicity (DW, 2021; WHO, 2021).

1.3.2 Variants of Concern (VOC)

If a variant of SARS-CoV-2 is more infectious or less susceptible to vaccines or possible methods of treatment, it is classified as variant of concern. As of May 2022, five variants of concern have been identified (WHO, 2020).

Alpha (B.1.1.7)

The UK initially detect this variant and it was named Alpha on December 14, 2020. It has 23 unique mutations with 8 of them being in the spike protein. Fortunately vaccines are fully effective against this variant even though it has an additional 50% infectivity (Gupta et al., 2021; WHO, 2020).

Beta (B.1.351)

The second variant of concern is found in South Africa on December 18 2020 and in a short amount of time it was detected in other countries as well. The most notable feature of this variant is that it is observed relatively more in healthy young individuals, possibly because of the additional mutations it harbors (Khan et al., 2021; Tegally et al., 2021).

Gamma (P.1)

Gamma variant was detected in the tourists returning to their country from Brazil on January 2 2021. This variant is responsible from producing ten times greater viral loads compared to previous ones possibly because of the 10 mutations found in its S protein (Faria et al., 2021; Fujino et al., 2021).

Delta (B.1.617.2)

A new variant harboring two unique mutations, which are dubbed E484Q and L452R, started infecting more and more people in India. Because there weren't any known variants containing the mentioned two mutations, the name Delta was given on May 11 2021. The Delta variant expanded rapidly around the globe and became the most infectious variant until November 2021. As of May 2022, it is still in circulation (del Rio et al., 2021; WHO, 2021).

Omicron (B.1.1.529)

The dominance of the Delta variant started to fade with the detection of a new variant that is almost 3 times more infectious. Being the most mutated variant to date, this variant was named Omicron on November 2021. The spike protein itself has more than 30 mutations; in comparison the Delta variant harbors half of that amount (Gu et al., 2022; Tian et al., 2021; WHO, 2021).

1.3.3 Variants of Interest (VOI)

If a unique SARS-CoV-2 variant were to be detected in groups of people or countries but it is found to not lessen the effectiveness of the available treatments or vaccines then it is monitored under the name of variant of interest and as of May 2022 there are no VOIs in circulation (WHO, 2020; 2022).

Epsilon (B.1.427)

COVID-19 cases in California rose between November 2020 and March 2021. During this rise, Epsilon variant steadily rose (Carroll et al., 2021). The L452R spike mutation

identified in the Epsilon variation boosts infectivity and diminishes sensitivity to antibody neutralization, according to in vitro experiments (Yang et al., 2021). The WHO categorized Epsilon as a VOI, however as of May 2022, the Epsilon variant was no longer designated a VOI (WHO, 2022).

Zeta (P.2)

Zeta variant was discovered in Brazil in April 2020 with some of the mutations present from the Gamma variant (Voloch et al., 2020). The WHO no longer considers Zeta to be a VOI as of May 2022 (WHO, 2022).

Eta (B.1.525)

Similar to Zeta, the Eta variant harbors some of the mutations from the gamma variant but it differs from zeta in that it does not have most of the notable mutations such as of N501Y (Chakraborty et al., 2021). As of May 2022 it is not regarded as a VOI (WHO, 2022).

Theta (P.3)

The Theta variant was found for the first time in the Philippines on February 18, 2021, when two concerning mutations were discovered in Central Visayas. 14 amino acid substitutions were detected in all samples, including seven alterations in spike protein. As of May 2022, the theta variant was no longer regarded as a VOI (Ferraz et al., 2021; WHO, 2022)

Iota (B.1.526)

The spike protein mutation E484K has been observed in this variant (Annavajhala et al., 2021). By February 2021, it had swiftly spread throughout New York and accounted for around one in four viral sequences. By 11 April 2021, 18 countries have found the variant. By the end of July 2021, the proportion of the Iota variant compared to the total sum of infections in the United States of America has decreased rapidly because of the Delta variant (Annavajhala et al., 2021). The Iota variant was no longer regarded a VOI as of May 2022 (WHO, 2022)

Kappa (B.1.617.1)

The concentration of patients who are infected with the Kappa variant climbed to 50% between December 2020 and March 2021 in India until the Delta variant became dominant (Newey, 2021). As of May 2020, the Kappa variant is not considered as a VOI (WHO, 2022).

Lambda (C.37)

In August of 2020, the Lambda variant was first spotted in Peru. On 14 June 2021, the WHO classified it as a variant of interest and named it Lambda (Robertson, 2021). The Lambda genome has 7 alterations positioned in its protein of entrance and as of May 2022, it is no longer regarded as a variant of interest (Robertson, 2021; WHO, 2022).

Mu (B.1.621)

The Mu variant was first found in Colombia in January 2021, and on August 30, 2021, the WHO recognized it as a variant of interest. The Mu genome has a total of 21 alterations; nine of them are found in spike protein (WHO, 2021). As of May 2020, it is not considered as a VOI (WHO, 2022).

1.4 SARS-CoV-2 Variant Pathogenesis and Host Response

As the COVID-19 pandemic progresses, new mutations are observed with each emerging variant (WHO, 2022). Some mutations happen in the virus' spike protein, thus each variant could show new pathogenic effects. In a study done by Vincent et.al on the pathogenic effects of Alpha and Beta variants in rhesus macaques have found no significant increase in pathogenicity of the mentioned variants in fact, the Beta variant have shown decreased pathogenicity despite the reports of increased disease severity. However, they have found that the Beta variant better in the upper respiratory track, which the opposite can be said for the Alpha variant and the initial form of the SARS-CoV-2 virus when it first emerged (Munster et al., 2021).

Mohandas et al., (2021) has tested the pathogenicity of variant Delta on the Syrian mouse models and informed that the Delta variant has increased viral replication

especially in the first week of the infection and higher transmissibility than the Alpha variant. The main area of infection remained identical to the previous ones.

In case of the Omicron variant, McMahan et al., (2022) has conducted an experiment to assess the pathogenicity of the Omicron variant in hamsters. Their results showed that hamsters did not lose weight even after being infected with higher dosages of Omicron variant compared to the previous variants which resulted in significant weight loss with lesser dosage. Moreover, the mice had lower viral loads in their lower respiratory track with decreased pathology in their lungs although the viral load in their Nasal turbinates had increased significantly.

1.5 Human Genetic Variations

The term "human genetic variation" refers to the genetic differences that may be found within populations as well as between them. In the human population, there can be many different variants of a single gene, which is an example of polymorphism. Due to the fact that mutations can occur at any stage of human development and that the number of copies of each gene can vary, it is impossible for two individuals to be genetically identical. Even monozygotic twins have some genetic differences (Bruder et al., 2008). As of 2017, there were 324 million differences found in sequenced human genomes (NCBI, 2017), while in 2015, it was estimated that the average difference between an individual's genome and the reference genome was 20 million base pairs (Auton et al., 2015). There are numerous scales of genetic diversity among people, from major abnormalities in the human karyotype to single nucleotide modifications (Kidd et al., 2008).

Single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) make up the majority of polymorphisms in the genome with an occurrence rate of one in every 1,000 nucleotides on average. The occurrence of other types of polymorphisms, including as alterations in copy number, insertions, deletions, duplications, and rearrangements, is far less frequent. There is no requirement that every SNP will result in detrimental impacts to the individual. The vast

majority of SNPs are located in non-coding sections of the genome; however, some SNPs can be found in both coding and non-coding regions and are the cause of certain inherited genetic diseases. Some of the most well-known instances of pathogenic SNPs include thalassemia, Duchenne muscular dystrophy, and cystic fibrosis (NIH, 2007).

1.5.1 Genetic polymorphism and COVID-19

It is possible that changes in the activity of particular proteins, caused by the existence of frequent polymorphic genetic variants in a population, might result in increased susceptibility to infection, enhanced viral replication, or heightened inflammatory response (Sabater Molina et al., 2022).

ACE2, being the main receptor of entrance for SARS-CoV-2, is the most logical starting point of looking into the association of genetic polymorphisms and SARS-CoV-2. Sabater Molina et al., (2022) have researched the Ace2 SNPs (rs2074192, rs1978124) and have associated these SNPs with the severity of the disease, especially in older adult males due to ACE2 being located in the X chromosome and therefore leaving no chance of heterozygosity in males to alleviate the severity of the disease. On the other hand, in Italy, no link between illness severity and gender susceptibility to ACE2 was discovered. Nonetheless, in the same study, TMPRSS2 levels and genetic variations were identified as potential disease modulators, which contributed to the reported epidemiological data among Italian patients. It has been shown that not only the ACE2 gene, but also the ACE1 gene, may influence the clinical course of COVID-19 (Asselta et al., 2020).

Abbas et al., (2021) have conducted a research on the association of COVID-19 susceptibility and polymorphisms in Glutathione S-transferase (GST) gene, mainly GSTM1 and GSTT1 homozygous deletion polymorphisms due to these polymorphisms cause loss of enzyme activity and are associated with increased risk of oxidative stress associated respiratory diseases. Because the present oxidants in the air we breathe is already putting a strain onto the immune system already and when the additional damage is inflicted by SARS-CoV-2, the innate immunity becomes incapable to defend the disease . Their findings have shown that individual who have GSTT1 homozygous deletion have higher risk of mortality and lower overall survival but this deletion has no significant effect on COVID-19 susceptibility. In case of GSTM1, individuals with GSTM1 homozygous deletions had neither higher rate of mortality, nor higher rate of infection to COVID-19, thus they ruled out GSTM1 as a factor.

1.5.2 COVID-19 and Thrombosis

COVID-19 generates a prothrombotic condition, and the high frequency of documented significant thrombotic events raises concerns about the pathophysiology of these events (Connors & Levy, 2020). COVID-19 has been associated with micro and macrovascular thrombotic problems in the veins of the lungs, brain, and gut (Levi et al., 2020). There have been reports of strokes as the presenting symptom in previously healthy young patients, and venous thromboembolism formation despite the use of anticoagulants (Oxley et al., 2020). The occurrence of thrombotic events in asymptomatic individuals has been reported. In addition, thromboses have been observed both in the acute context and in the weeks after critical illness, indicating that the pro-thrombotic condition may persist for several weeks or even longer after hospital discharge (Wong, 2003).

The cumulative incidence of thrombotic events was 49% in a Dutch group of 184 COVID-19 patients in the ICU, the most of which were pulmonary embolisms despite the use of antithrombotic medications. In this group, patients having a thrombotic episode had a fivefold higher risk of death (Klok et al., 2020). In another Italian group of 388, the percentage of thrombotic events was 21 (Lodigiani et al., 2020).

The reason why coagulation, thus thrombosis is a common occurrence in severe COVID-19 is because of endothelial cells' role in fibrinolysis regulation and vessel wall integrity. When SARS-CoV-2 damages alveolar endothelial cells, it stimulates pro-inflammatory cytokines (Levi & van der Poll, 2017). This increase in inflammatory activity contributes to the development of microvascular thrombosis, such as pulmonary microvasculature obstruction (Kasinathan & Sathar, 2020). Additionally, the development of the TF-Factor VIIa complex is involved with thrombin production and

fibrin deposition in multiple organs, such as lungs (GLAS et al., 2013). With an increase in fibrin, fibrinolysis process also piques and in turn raises plasminogen levels (Loskutoff & Quigley, 2000).

1.5.3 The SERPINE1 (PAI-1) Gene and Diseases

SERPINE1 gene is among the serine protease inhibitors superfamily (*SERPIN*) and it's located on chromosome 7 (7q21.3–q22). *SERPINE1* encodes the PAI-1 protein which suppresses the activity of plasminogen activator proteins such as urokinase plasminogen activator (u-PA) and tissue type plasminogen activator (t-PA) (Klinger et al., 1987). The mentioned proteins convert plasminogen to plasmin, which is a contributor to fibrinolysis (Loskutoff et al., 1983). The PAI-1 protein dampens this conversion to prevent premature clot breakage (LIJNEN, 2005).

Complete PAI-1 deficiency is associated with significant bleeding, which can be lifethreatening in rare situations. So far, fewer than 10 families with PAI-1 deficiency have been recorded and it is autosomal recessive in disease (Heiman, 1993).

Overexpression of PAI-1 can also lead to a set of diseases such as insulin resistance and cause obesity which is a factor in metabolic syndrome that can increase the risk of developing cardiovascular diseases (Alessi & Juhan-Vague, 2006). Additionally, depending on the factor that induces the expression of PAI-1, its overexpression could also cause various diseases such as atherothrombosis, diabetes or myocardial infarction (Hamsten et al., 1987; Kohler & Grant, 2000; Lyon & Hsueh, 2003).

A number of SNPs in PAI-1 have been linked to different disorders. For instance, the rs2227631 polymorphism was strongly connected with coronary artery disease risk in dominant and allele models, while the homozygous genotype of rs6092 had a deleterious influence on men's triglyceride levels (Henry et al., 1997; Su et al., 2006). However, PAI-1 4G/5G polymorphism has received the most extensive investigation than any other PAI-1 SNP.

An insertion/deletion polymorphism, PAI 4G/5G polymorphism happens whether a guanosine nucleotide is present or not at the -675 bp location in the SERPINE1 gene promoter region (Dawson et al., 1993). 4G allele transcripts greater amounts of protein than the 5G allele because of the site for binding is absent which was reserved to an inhibitor. This absence is observed as higher PAI-1 levels in people who are 4G homozygous compared to the ones with the homozygous 5G allele. In case of the heterozygous individuals, their levels are in between the homozygous ones (Eriksson et al., 1995).

Currently this polymorphism is being tested if it can be a predictor of various diseases. Yıldırım et al., (2017) has found out the frequency of PAI-1 4G/5G polymorphism observed to be greater in people suffering from endometrial cancer compared to the group of control. Katko et al., (2021) has found out that the 4G homozygous patients with Graves' disease are more susceptible to developing Thyroid eye disease. Madách et al., (2010) demonstrated that severe sepsis patients are more likely to suffer from septic shock if they have the 4G allele. Divella et al., (2015) informed that this polymorphism, especially the 4G allele, can be used as a prognostic marker for patients with Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC).

1.5.4 PAI-1 4G/5G variation and COVID-19

A recent study showed a connection of COVID-19 and PAI-1 4G/5G polymorphism in which the 4G homozygote patients have the highest plasma PAI-1 concentrations followed by 4G/5G heterozygotes and the least amount of plasma concentration was found in patients with 5G homozygote also the polymorphism associated with severity of the disease (Vatseba & Virstyuk., 2021). Abdullaev et al., (2021) also support previous findings, and they have observed that of all COVID-19 patients identified with PAI-1 4G/5G polymorphism have showed thrombotic events. The postmortem examinations have also done in the same study and they revealed that the thrombotic events were mainly raised from pulmonary artery thrombosis or pulmonary embolism with deep vein thrombosis. In addition, the ratio of women who have suffered from pulmonary embolism was twice as much compared to men.

Furthermore, JAK et al., (2021) have reported a four-day-old fetal autopsy that has shown signs of placental injury caused by coagulation alteration due to fetal SARS-CoV-2 infection, which the mother who had infected in the last trimester of pregnancy and she had homozygote in the 4G allele. They conclude that SARS-CoV-2 passed the placental barrier from the mother who is heterozygous to this polymorphism to infect the fetus and the polymorphism could increase the damage of the SARS-CoV-2 infection.

1.6 Work in thesis

This study investigates the allelic frequencies and the distributions of the genotypes of PAI-1 4G/5G polymorphism in patients who are infected by the SARS-COV-2 Delta and Omicron (BA.1) variants.

CHAPTER 2

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Suppliers

HiMedia Insta Q96[™] Real Time (HiMedia, Mumbai, India), Tianlong GeneRotex96 Rotary Nucleic Acid Extraction System (TIANLONG, Shaanxi, China), Bio-Rad MyCycler[™] Thermal Cycler System (Bio-Rad, California, USA), Appleid Biosystems Veriti Thermal Cycler (Applied Biosystems, Waltham, Masachusets, USA), DNR Bio Imaging Systems MiniBIS Pro (DNR Bio Imaging Systems, Neve Yamın, Israel), Cleaver Scientific gel electrophoresis instrument and power supply (Cleaver Scientific, Rugby, UK).

2.1.2 Sample Collection

A total number of 408 individuals who admitted to Near East University Hospital COVID-19 PCR Diagnosis Laboratory for routine test was used in this study. The control group consisted of 204 individuals who were SARS-CoV-2 RT-qPCR negative. On the other hand, the case group consisted of 204 patients whom 100 of them were SARS-CoV-2 RT-qPCR positive, infected with SARS-CoV-2 Delta variant and 104 of them were SARS-CoV-2 RT-qPCR positive, infected with SARS-CoV-2 Omicron (BA.1) variant

2.1.3 Chemical Reagents

2.1.3.1 Molecular Weight Markers

GelPilot 50 bp DNA ladder (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany) catalogue no. 239025) and GeneRuler 50 bp DNA ladder (Thermo Scientific[™], Pittsburg, USA, catalogue no. SM0371) were utilized as a molecular weight marker.

2.1.3.2 Oligonucleotide Primers

The primers pairs which were designed for *PAI-14G/5G* polymorphism (SNP: rs1799889) (Table 1).

| Primers | Sequence |
|-------------------|------------------------------|
| PAI-1 (rs1799889) | |
| Forward | 5'-CACAGAGAGAGTCTGGCCACGT-3' |
| Reverse | 5'-CCAACAGAGGACTCTTGGTCT-3' |

 Table 1: The sequence of PAI-1 forward and reverse primers for multiplex PCR

2.1.3.3 Enzymes

FastDigest BSII (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA, catalogue no. K1991) was used to digest of PCR products following DNA amplification.

2.1.3.4 Standard Solutions

A 10x stock of Tris-Borate/ EDTA (TBE) which is an electrophoresis buffer (108 gr Tris and 55 gr Boric acid and 40 ml 0.5 M EDTA pH 8.0) was dissolved in 1 ml water. 10X TBE buffer was diluted to 1X (100 ml from 10X TBE + 900 ml Distilled water).

2X PCR Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific, catalogue no. K0172), which is the solution includes *PAI-1* DNA Polymerase, dNTPs, and all the components required for the PCR, was used for amplification of DNA.

2.1.3.5 Other Chemical Agents

Agarose powder (Sigma-Aldrich, catalogue no. 11388983001) was used to gel electrophoresis showing PCR-RFLP products of samples. Ethidium bromide (EtBr) (Sigma-Aldrich, catalogue no. E1385) which is a fluorescent dye was used for making agarose gel visible.

2.1.3.6 Computers

GelCapture Software was used to viev, analyze the gel images and store the imaging data. Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) was used for the data statistics.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 The Detection of SARS-CoV-2 from VNAT Solution by Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction

SARS-CoV-2 detection was obtained with UNIPLEX SARS-CoV-2 RT-qPCR diagnosis kit (Near East University, Nicosia, Cyprus) from VNAT Solution by 2X PCR Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA, catalogue no. K0172), Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction according to manufactory manuals.

2.2.2 SARS-CoV-2 Mutation Typing and variant identifying using TaqMan Allele Specific Primers (ASPs)

The SARS-CoV-2 positive patients were included to variant identifying analysis by using TaqMan allele specific primers for SARS-CoV-2 mutations. The variant identifying analysis was done by use of Multiplex SARS-CoV-2 VOC RT-qPCR identifying kit (Near East University, Nicosia, Cyprus) according to manufactory instructions.

2.2.3 Nucleic Acid Extraction

The viral RNA from the VNAT solution was extracted by viral DNA RNA extraction kit (Tianlong, China, catalogue no. T014H).

Human DNA was isolated from VNAT solutions which diagnosis were done for COVID-19 using DNA extraction kit (Tianlong, China, catalogue no. T191H).

2.2.4 Amplifying the PAI-14G/5G Polymorphism Target Regions by PCR

PCR was used to amplify of target mutated regions of the *PAI-1* gene from isolated genomic DNA. The PCR step was done for all 408 samples using for *PAI-1* restriction enzymes. PCR reaction achieved in 20 μ l volume, 15 μ l PCR mixture and 5 μ l DNA and the PCR reaction mixture composition was presented in Table 2. Thermal cycling conditions to amplify of target mutated regions of the *PAI-1* gene including the temperature regimes and the durations of each step were presented in Table 3.

| Component | 1X |
|------------------------------------|------|
| - | |
| PCR Master mix | 5 μl |
| | |
| <i>PAI-1</i> Forward primer (10µM) | 1 µl |
| | |
| <i>PAI-1</i> Reverse primer | 1 µl |
| | |
| (10µM) | |
| | |
| PCR grade Distilled water | 8 µl |
| | |

 Table 2. Master Mixture composition for PAI-1PCR

| Stage | Temperature | Time | Cycles |
|----------------------|-------------|------------|-----------|
| Initial denaturation | 94 °C | 5 minute | 1 cycle |
| Denaturation | 94 °C | 30 seconds | |
| Annealing | 63 °C | 30 seconds | 35 cycles |
| Extension | 72 °C | 1 minute | - |
| Termination | 72 °C | 7 minutes | 1 cycle |

 Table 3. Thermal cycling conditions for PAI-1 PCR

Following the PCR, the gel electrophoresis was done for the yield amplified products. A 3.5% concentrated agarose gel was prepared (7 grams agarose / 200 ml TBE buffer). After dissolving agarose, the mixture was cooled down and 10μ L EtBr was added. 10μ l PCR product with 2 μ l loading dye and 5 μ l 50bp ladder were loaded into the agarose gel. An average of 100 volts used in the running of the samples by Bio-Rad electrophoresis device. The average time of completion was 90 minutes. An ultraviolent trans-illuminator was used to visualize the bands

2.2.5 Genotyping the *PAI-1* 4G/5G Gene Polymorphism by Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphisms (RFLPs)

After visualization of the bands RFLP analysis was done for *PAI-14G/5G* polymorphism by the use of mutation specific restriction enzymes. RFLP analysis achieved of 20 μ l total, 10 μ l of RFLP mixture and 10 μ l of amplified product from PCR. The exact RFLP mixture composition was presented in Table 4. The samples incubated at 37°C for 60 minutes for *PAI-14G/5G* polymorphism for the RFLP analysis.

| Component | |
|--------------------------|--------|
| Distilled water | 4.5 μl |
| Digest Green Buffer | 5 μ1 |
| PAI-1 restriction enzyme | 0.5 μl |
| PCR product | 10 µl |

Table 4. RFLP mixture for PAI-14G/5G polymorphism.

A 3.5% concentrated agarose gel, containing ethidium bromide was prepared (7 grams agarose / 200 ml TBE buffer) to separate the RFLP products. The 10 μ l RFLP products and 2 μ l loading dye and 5 ml 50 bp ladder were loaded into agarose gel. An average of 100 volts used in the running of the samples by Bio-Rad electrophoresis device. The

average time of completion was 90 minutes. An ultraviolent trans-illuminator was used to visualize the bands.

In the presence of mutation, for *PAI-1* restriction endonuclease recognizes the sequence and cut the PCR product into 72bp (4G allele) and 27bp (5G allele) fragments.

2.2.6 Statistical Analysis

Data statistics was done by utilizing SPSS software (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences, SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL, USA, and version 25). Descriptive data and genotype data of the study group were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) or number and frequency, where applicable. Normal and non-normal distributed quantitative variables were differentiated with Student's t-test and Mann-Whitney U test between two groups, respectively. The genotype and allelic frequency distributions of PAI-1 675 4G/5G polymorphisms between the study groups were compared using Chi square (χ^2). Pearson's chi-square test or the Fisher's exact test were used to verify the association of the categorical variables between study groups, when the conditions for using the chi-square test were not verified. Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) was assessed by Fischer's exact test. OR and 95 % CI were estimated by binary logistic regression analysis adopting codominant, dominant, recessive and additive inheritance models. Akaike's information criterion (ACI) was utilized in the selection of the most suitable inheritance model for the data available. To assess the differences between groups, the data were log transformed to meet ANOVA criteria and then subjected to one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-hoc analysis. Relative risks were assessed of PAI-1 675 4G/5G polymorphism in COVID-19 Delta and Omicron (BA.1) variant patients by calculating odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) that were considered separate outcomes. In all cases differences were considered significant at p < 0.05.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

3.1 Introduction

A significant characteristic of COVID-19 infection is the appearance of thrombosis in small and big veins, thus SARS-CoV-2 is the reason of endothelial dysfunction (Rapkiewicz et al., 2020). PAI-1, being a key marker of endothelial dysfunction, has been consistently found in high plasma levels in patients with severe COVID-19 (Zuo et al., 2021).

Multiple studies have looked into the function of pai-1 in COVID-19. For example, Khan, (2021) and Zuo et al., (2021) are in agreement from their findings that older patients and those with previous cardiometabolic disorders who are more likely to have greater baseline PAI-1 levels are at an increased risk for severe infection and worse outcomes.

Even though elevated plasma PAI-1 levels increase the risk of COVID-19 severity, a few studies researched the association of this polymorphism so far (Lapić et al., 2022). The 4G allele is known to elevate PAI-1 levels. As of May 2020, there aren't any studies available on its impact on multiple covid-19 variants (Eriksson et al., 1995).

In the current academic work, we investigated the allelic frequencies and genotypic distribution between *PAI-1* 4G/5G gene polymorphism (rs1799889) in COVID-19 patients who are infected by the SARS-CoV-2 Delta and Omicron variants and compared them with SARS-CoV-2 negative individuals as a control group.

3.2 General characteristics of the study group

The study group includes 204 COVID-19 patients (100 SARS-CoV-2 Delta variant patients and 104 SARS-CoV-2 Omicron (BA.1) variant patients) and 204 non-infected patients as a control group. The mean age of COVID-19 patient's \pm SD was 48.49 \pm 11.54 and control group 47.24 \pm 12.34 (p=0.290). The gender distribution of the patients' group is 114 (55.9%) female and 90 (44.1%) male for control group 94 (46.1%) female and 110 (53.9%) (p=0.060).
3.3 Allelic and genotypic distribution frequency of PAI-1 -675 4G/5G polymorphism in study group.

The allelic and genotypic frequency distributions of *PAI-1* 6754G/5G polymorphism in COVID-19 patients who are infected by the Delta and Omicron BA.1variants and the control group are presented in Table 5

Notable differences were observed in genotype frequencies of PAI-1 -675 4G/5G polymorphism between SARS-CoV-2 patients and control group (p=0.001).

Furthermore, the risk allele of PAI-1 -675 4G/5G polymorphism was found to be statistically significant (OR=39.05, 95% CI=/18.88-80.78, p=0.001) in SARS-CoV-2 Delta and Omicron BA.1 variants infected patients compared to controls (Table 5).

| SNP Geno | SNP Genotypic Frequencies n (%) P-Value Allelic Frequencies | | | | | | |
|-------------|---|-------------|--------|--------|------------|--------------|--|
| χ^2 | OR/CI(95% |) P | -Value | | | | |
| Genotype | Cases (n=204) | Control (n= | :204) | Allele | Cases (n=2 | 204) Control | |
| (n=204) | | | | | | | |
| PAI-1 675-4 | 4G/5G | | | | | | |
| 5G/5G | 72(35.3) | 192(97) | 4G/5G | | 82(40.2) | 4(2) | |
| 0.001 | 4G/5G | 0.55/0.45 | 0.98/0 | .02 | 201.96 | 39.05/18.88- | |
| 80.78 | 0.001 | | | | | | |
| 4G/4G | 50(24.5) | 2(1) | | | | | |

Table 5: The genotypic and allelic frequency distributions of PAI-1 -675 4G/5G SNP in

 the study group

The study group includes 204 COVID-19 patients who are infected by the SARS-CoV-2 Delta and Omicron BA.1 variants and 204 non-infected patients as a control group. OR: Odds Ratio, CI: Confidence Interval. χ^2 and HWE tests were used to compare the genotypic and allelic frequency distributions of polymorphisms between the groups. In all cases, differences were considered significant at p< 0.05.

Mutation analysis of *PAI-1* 6754G/5G polymorphism showed that 64.7% of SARS-CoV-2 positive patients (case group) were carried at least one mutant allele (homozygous or heterozygous), while the control group has consisted of 3% were carried mutation at least one allele. The distribution differences of the *PAI-1* 6754G/5G polymorphism within the two groups were statistically significant (OR=0.17, 95% CI=0.07-0.4, p=0.001) (Figure 1).





3.4 The distribution of PAI-1 6754G/5G polymorphism in the patients with SARS-CoV-2 Delta and Omicron BA.1 variants

Furthermore, we also investigated of the distribution of PAI-1 6754G/5G polymorphism in SARS-CoV-2 patients who were infected with Delta and Omicron BA.1 variants. We observed that 21% of Delta variant infected patients had 5G/5G (wild

type) genotype, while 79% of Delta variant infected patients carried at least one mutant allele (homozygous or heterozygous). However, 5G homozygosity observed more in the SARS-CoV-2 patients who were infected with Omicron BA.1 variant (49%), and the frequency of the mutant genotypes (homozygous or heterozygous) was lower (51%) compared to the patients infected with Delta variant group (OR=3.62, 95% CI=1.95-6.70, p=0.001) (Figure 2).



Figure 2: The distribution of PAI-1 6754G/5G polymorphism in the patients with SARS-CoV-2 Delta and Omicron BA.1 variants. *PAI-1* polymorphism genotype distribution 5G/5G (Wild Type), 4G/5G (Heterozygote), 4G/4G (Homozygote)

3.5 Analysis of PAI-1 6754G/5G polymorphism based on the four genetic inheritance models in the patients with SARS-CoV-2 Delta and Omicron BA.1 variants

The genotype frequencies were analyzed by four genetic models: additive, codominant, dominant, and recessive models in COVID-19 cases. The PAI-1 -675 4G/5G polymorphism, a significant association between this polymorphism and increased risk of SARS-CoV-2 Delta variant compared to Omicron BA.1 variants cases, and the analysis showed that in all four models, co-dominant genotype (5G/5G) vs (4G/4G) (OR=2.85, 95% CI.=1.34-6.05, *p*=0.005); co-dominant genotype (4G/4G) vs (5G/5G) (OR=0.35, 95% CI.=0.16-0.74, p=0.005); dominant (OR=3.62, 95% CI.=1.95-6.70, *p*=0.001); recessive (OR=0.76, 95% CI.=0.40-1.45, p=0.417); additive (OR=0.57, 95% CI=0.11-1.66, *p*=0.002).

Table 6: Analysis of SNPs based on the four genetic inheritance models.

| SNP | Model of | OR (95 % CI) | p-Value | AIC ^a |
|------------------|--|------------------|---------|------------------|
| | Inheritance | | | |
| PAI-1 -675 4G/5G | Co-dominant | | | |
| | 5G/5G vs 4G/4G | 2.85 (1.34-6.05) | 0.005 | - |
| | 4G/4G vs 5G/5G | 0.35 (0.16-0.74) | 0.005 | |
| | Dominant 5G/5G vs 4G/5G+4G/4G | 3.62 (1.95-6.70) | 0.001 | 13.15 |
| | Recessive 4G/4G vs 4G/5G +5G/5G | 0.76 (0.40-1.45) | 0.417 | 15.39 |
| | Additive 4G/4G vs 4G/5G vs 5G/5G | 0.57 (0.11-1.66) | 0.002 | 16.32 |

The AIC: the preferred inheritance model is the one with the minimum AIC value. OR; Odds ratio, CI; Confidence interval, AIC; Akaike's information criterion. p-value≤0.05 considered statistically significant. p-values in bold remained significant after Bonferroni correction.

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

4.1 Introduction

Since 2019, COVID-19 has become the number one priority in general public health worldwide. Its ability to infect immense amount of people made it clear with approximately 525 millions of people have been infected and 6.3 millions of those people could not recover from the virus (WHO, 2022). The reason why it is so infectious is because it is an airborne disease that targets the respiratory system of the host and the initial symptoms appear a few days after the infection. Given the type of substance it infects, it can infect people up to 3 days after the said surface become contaminated. Fortunately, the possibility decreases rapidly in the matter of hours (Rauf et al., 2020). Coronaviruses possess some degrees of proofreading capabilities which made scientist hopeful about avoiding a case of mutation though that was not the case (Sanjuán, 2016). It mutated number of times in the span of two years, even five of them labeled as a variant of concern and many more are put under watch (WHO, 2022). Fortunately, vaccines proved to be the most effective method of combatting this pandemic. It is found that their widespread usage has dramatically reduced hospitalizations and the burden on the health system reduced significantly especially in the cases that required ventilators to be deployed (Knoll & Wonodi, 2021).

The main reason why ventilators are needed in infected patients is due to pathogenic effects of SARS-CoV-2. The virus causes thrombosis in the patients' deep veins especially in the lungs and in severe cases; this thrombosis harms the patient to a degree that they are unable to breathe without assistance. Anticoagulants such as heparin are utilized to combat in this type of instances and to detect the severity of coagulation PAI-1 serum levels is in use as a reliable marker (Khan, 2021).

4.2 The association between PAI-1 -675 4G/5G polymorphism and COVID-19 disease

Individuals who harbor the 4G allele in their *SERPINE-1* gene found to have elevated PAI-1 serum levels and depending on whether they are homozygote or heterozygote differentiates this plasma level. 4G homozygote people naturally have the highest plasma levels followed by heterozygote and 5G homozygote people have the least level of plasma PAI-1 (Hamsten et al., 1987). An assumption can be made that 4G homozygote people are under greater risk if they ever had a severe COVID-19 infection because of the combination of their already present high PAI-1 levels and the additional increase caused by infection could cause poor end results (Khan, 2021).

Vatseba & Virstyuk., (2021) tangled this assumption and provided that the PAI-1 levels with respect to COVID-19 severity and PAI-1 levels indeed lined up as 4G homozygote, 4G/5G heterozygote and 5G homozygote with 4G homozygote individuals having the highest PAI-1 levels and make up the most populated patient group of them all; although this study did not test a specific variant. Even if our study did not measure the plasma levels, it associated how many COVID-19 patients have which type of polymorphism with respect to whether they are Delta or the Omicron variant infected. One observation we made is that 4G/4G and 4G/5G people contracted the Delta variant more and the reverse is applicable for the 5G/5G people and the Omicron variant. Our study with the mentioned one may not seem to have any overlapping connections on the surface, but theirs was done before the emergence of the Omicron and at the time when the Delta variant was the most dominant strain on the planet. From there we can assume the most cases they had were with the Delta variant and in that instance, it is in line with our findings of 4G allele harboring individuals have higher chance of being infected with the Delta variant and with most of Vatseba & Virstyuk., (2021)'s patients being either 4G homozygous or heterozygous.

4.3 The impact of PAI-1 -675 4G/5G polymorphism on COVID-19 patients

Abdullaev et al., (2021) conducted a study where they found that COVID-19 patients in their study group who displayed thrombotic events had at least one 4G allele. Moreover, when they did post mortem examinations, the mentioned thrombotic events

were mainly raised from pulmonary artery thrombosis or pulmonary embolism with deep vein thrombosis. Furthermore, another case reported a 4G homozygous patient suffering from placental injury due to SARS-CoV-2 induced coagulation alterations (JAK et al., 2021).

In addition, another aspect of Vatseba & Virstyuk., (2021)'s experiment was their categorization of patients into three groups depending on their COVID-19 severity. These groups are: mild, moderate and severe. Mild group was entirely composed from 5G homozygous individuals meanwhile, heterozygous patients make up the 83% of the moderate group and the severe group was 62% 4G homozygous and 32% 4G/5G heterozygous patients.

It is worth mentioning that all of these studies were conducted in a time where the Delta variant was the most dominant variant around the globe before the Omicron variant existed. Our findings indicate that a greater proportion of people infected by the Delta variant were either 4G homozygous or 4G/5G heterozygous, whereas the Omicron variant mainly infected 5/G homozygous people . Recent studies have shown that even if the Omicron variant was more infectious than the Delta variant, its COVID-19 symptoms are milder compared to the previous variants (Wang et al., 2022). This result is reinforced by the fact that in animal models, the lung damage caused by the Omicron variant was at least nine times lighter compared to the damage done by the previous variants (Zhao et al., 2022).

In the light of these findings, one of the reasons why the Delta variant cause more severe form of COVID-19 compared to the Omicron variant could be due to the Delta variant is seen more among the people who tend to have greater levels of plasma PAI-1, who have higher chances of suffering from a thrombotic event (Hamsten et al., 1987). This possibility is further supported by the reduced percentage of thromboembolism in the COVID-19 patients who were admitted to the ICU during the Omicron wave compared to the previous ones. It is worth mentioning that the increase in the total vaccination rates could also be a factor in this percentage reduction (Ho et al., 2021).

4.4 Conclusion

The life-threatening condition known as COVID-19 has been responsible for the deaths of millions of individuals. Within the span of two years, a total of five different variants of concern have surfaced. Because of their significantly heightened contagiousness, Delta and Omicron are two of them that stand out above the others. Vaccines continue to be the only way of protection available against COVID-19 as of May 2022, and it is a proven fact that they are successful in the prevention of this disease. Each passing day sees a rise in the proportion of vaccinated people compared to the entire population, which contributes to an overall improvement in the vaccines' efficacy. Because of these immunizations, governments will begin relaxing the requirements they imposed, like as restrictions on who may travel and where they can go, beginning in May of 2022. The vaccination rates in some regions of the world are, regrettably, not yet high enough; as a result, the prospect of a new variant being released into the world is always a possibility.

PAI-1 is responsible for the regulation of the fibrinolytic system due to its capacity to prevent plasmin from transforming into plasminogen, which is the process that dissolves fibrin cloths. However, if there is a higher concentration of PAI-1 in the body than what is considered normal, it can lead to a wide variety of physiological problems. This disruption would be thrombosis in the context of COVID-19; more specifically, it would take the form of pulmonary embolism; however, additional consequences such as hemodynamic disturbances or cardiac problems are also a possibility. In the most severe cases of COVID-19, it has been shown that the infection causes PAI-1 levels to remain in an elevated condition. This keeps the clots from dissolving and can, in the worst case scenarios, lead to consequences such as damage to several organs. A polymorphism known as the PAI-1 4G/5G polymorphism is seen in certain individuals, and this polymorphism causes these individuals' PAI-1 levels to persist at a relatively high level. People who are homozygous for this polymorphism have the greatest PAI-1 levels because the 4G allele of this polymorphism has an increasing influence on plasma PAI-1 levels and other factors. On the other side, those who are heterozygous have lower levels

compared to them, however these levels are not quite as low as those of people who are 5G homozygous. Several researches explored the connection between this polymorphism and COVID-19; however, these investigations did not consider the influence that this polymorphism could have on the various SARS-CoV-2 variants. In our research, we found out that those who have the 4G allele are more likely to be affected by the Delta variant, particularly if they are homozygous for it. This polymorphism can be a factor in addition to all of the others since the severity of the disease induced by this variation is greater than that caused by the other variants. It would suggest that this polymorphism does not contribute to an increased risk for the Omicron form.

4.5 Final remarks and future work

Our main objective was to find out the possible connection between the 4G/5G polymorphism of the PAI-1 gene with the Delta and Omicron variants of the SARS-CoV-2

The result of this study has found a significant association between this polymorphism and the SARS-CoV-2 Delta and Omicron variants. If an individual harbors this polymorphism, they are more vulnerable to contracting the Delta variant and have a higher chance of severe course of infection. Individuals who have this polymorphism do not appear to have increased susceptibility when the variant in question is Omicron.

The experiment was carried out with 408 participants from various ages however, age groups were not considered as a study variable. Therefore, not considering age variables can be a limitation of this study, along with the small sample size. Absence of the previous variant could be considered as a limitation as well. In the future, the same study could be performed with a greater group size and age variables could be included in it

CHAPTER 5

REFERENCES

- Abbas, M., Verma, S., Verma, S., Siddiqui, S., Khan, F. H., Raza, S. T., Siddiqi, Z., Eba, A., & amp; Mahdi, F. (2021). Association of gstm1 and gstt1 gene polymorphisms with Covid-19 susceptibility and its outcome. Journal of Medical Virology, 93(9), 5446–5451. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.27076
- Abdullaev, A., Fevraleva, I., Odilov, A., Volkov, A., Babichenko, I., & amp; Sudarikov, A. (2021). THROMBOTIC EVENTS AND THE PROFILE OF HEREDITARY THROMBOPHILIA FACTORS IN COVID-19 PATIENTS. Hemasphere.
- Ackermann, M., Verleden, S. E., Kuehnel, M., Haverich, A., Welte, T., Laenger, F., Vanstapel, A., Werlein, C., Stark, H., Tzankov, A., Li, W. W., Li, V. W., Mentzer, S. J., & amp; Jonigk, D. (2020). Pulmonary vascular endothelialitis, thrombosis, and angiogenesis in covid-19. New England Journal of Medicine, 383(2), 120–128. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa2015432
- Alessi, M.-C., & amp; Juhan-Vague Irène. (2006). Pai-1 and the metabolic syndrome. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 26(10), 2200– 2207. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.atv.0000242905.41404.68
- Annavajhala, M. K., Mohri, H., Wang, P., Nair, M., Zucker, J. E., Sheng, Z., Gomez-Simmonds, A., Kelley, A. L., Tagliavia, M., Huang, Y., Bedford, T., Ho, D. D., & amp; Uhlemann, A.-C. (2021). Emergence and expansion of SARS-COV-2 b.1.526 after identification in New York. Nature, 597(7878), 703–708. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03908-2
- 6) Annavajhala, M. K., Mohri, H., Wang, P., Nair, M., Zucker, J. E., Sheng, Z., Gomez-Simmonds, A., Kelley, A. L., Tagliavia, M., Huang, Y., Bedford, T., Ho, D. D., & amp; Uhlemann, A.-C. (2021). Emergence and expansion of the SARS-COV-2 variant B.1.526 identified in New York. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.02.23.21252259

- 7) Asselta, R., Paraboschi, E. M., Mantovani, A., & amp; Duga, S. (2020). ACE2 and TMPRSS2 variants and expression as candidates to sex and country differences in covid-19 severity in Italy. Aging, 12(11), 10087–10098. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.103415
- Auton, A., Abecasis, G. R., Altshuler, D. M., Durbin, R. M., Abecasis, G. R., Bentley, D. R., Chakravarti, A., Clark, A. G., Donnelly, P., Eichler, E. E., Flicek, P., Gabriel, S. B., Gibbs, R. A., Green, E. D., Hurles, M. E., Knoppers, B. M., Korbel, J. O., Lander, E. S., Lee, C., ... Abecasis, G. R. (2015). A global reference for human genetic variation. Nature, 526(7571), 68–74. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature15393
- 9) Bruder, C. E. G., Piotrowski, A., Gijsbers, A. A. C. J., Andersson, R., Erickson, S., Diaz de Ståhl, T., Menzel, U., Sandgren, J., von Tell, D., Poplawski, A., Crowley, M., Crasto, C., Partridge, E. C., Tiwari, H., Allison, D. B., Komorowski, J., van Ommen, G.-J. B., Boomsma, D. I., Pedersen, N. L., ... Dumanski, J. P. (2008). Phenotypically concordant and discordant monozygotic twins display different DNA copy-number-variation profiles. The American Journal of Human Genetics, 82(3), 763–771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2007.12.011
- Carroll, T., Fox, D., van Doremalen, N., Ball, E., Morris, M. K., Sotomayor-Gonzalez, A., Servellita, V., Rustagi, A., Yinda, C. K., Fritts, L., Port, J. R., Ma, Z.-M., Holbrook, M., Schulz, J., Blish, C. A., Hanson, C., Chiu, C. Y., Munster, V., Stanley, S., & amp; Miller, C. J. (2021). The B.1.427/1.429 (epsilon) SARS-COV-2 variants are more virulent than ancestral B.1 (614g) in Syrian hamsters. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.08.25.457626
- 11) CDC Weekly, C., & amp; The Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia Emergency Response Epidemiology Team. (2020). The epidemiological characteristics of an outbreak of 2019 novel coronavirus diseases (COVID-19) — China, 2020. China CDC Weekly, 2(8), 113–122. https://doi.org/10.46234/ccdcw2020.032
- 12) Cevik, M., Kuppalli, K., Kindrachuk, J., & amp; Peiris, M. (2020). Virology, transmission, and pathogenesis of SARS-COV-2. BMJ, m3862. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m3862

- 13) Chakraborty, C., Bhattacharya, M., & Sharma, A. R. (2021). Present variants of concern and variants of interest of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2: Their significant mutations in s-glycoprotein, infectivity, Reinfectivity, Immune Escape and vaccines activity. Reviews in Medical Virology, 32(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/rmv.2270
- 14) Chan, J. F.-W., Kok, K.-H., Zhu, Z., Chu, H., To, K. K.-W., Yuan, S., & amp; Yuen, K.-Y. (2020). Genomic characterization of the 2019 novel humanpathogenic coronavirus isolated from a patient with atypical pneumonia after visiting Wuhan. Emerging Microbes & amp; Infections, 9(1), 221–236. https://doi.org/10.1080/22221751.2020.1719902
- 15) Chan, J. F.-W., To, K. K.-W., Tse, H., Jin, D.-Y., & amp; Yuen, K.-Y. (2013). Interspecies transmission and emergence of novel viruses: Lessons from bats and Birds. Trends in Microbiology, 21(10), 544–555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2013.05.005
- 16) Channappanavar, R., Fehr, A. R., Vijay, R., Mack, M., Zhao, J., Meyerholz, D. K., & amp; Perlman, S. (2016). Dysregulated type I interferon and inflammatory monocyte-macrophage responses cause lethal pneumonia in SARS-COV-infected mice. Cell Host & amp; Microbe, 19(2), 181–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2016.01.007
- 17) Chen, L., Li, X., Chen, M., Feng, Y., & amp; Xiong, C. (2020). The ACE2 expression in human heart indicates new potential mechanism of heart injury among patients infected with SARS-COV-2. Cardiovascular Research, 116(6), 1097–1100. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvaa078
- Chen, Y., Liu, Q., & amp; Guo, D. (2020). Emerging Coronaviruses: Genome structure, replication, and pathogenesis. Journal of Medical Virology, 92(4), 418–423. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.25681
- 19) NChu, H., Chan, J. F.-W., Wang, Y., Yuen, T. T.-T., Chai, Y., Hou, Y., Shuai, H., Yang, D., Hu, B., Huang, X., Zhang, X., Cai, J.-P., Zhou, J., Yuan, S., Kok, K.-H., To, K. K.-W., Chan, I. H.-Y., Zhang, A. J., Sit, K.-Y., ... Yuen, K.-Y. (2020). Comparative replication and immune activation profiles of SARS-COV-2 and SARS-COV in human lungs: An ex vivo study with implications for the

pathogenesis of COVID-19. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 71(6), 1400–1409. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa410

- 20) Connors, J. M., & amp; Levy, J. H. (2020). Covid-19 and its implications for thrombosis and anticoagulation. Blood, 135(23), 2033–2040. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.2020006000
- 21) Dawson, S. J., Wiman, B., Hamsten, A., Green, F., Humphries, S., & amp; Henney, A. M. (1993). The two allele sequences of a common polymorphism in the promoter of the plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) gene respond differently to interleukin-1 in hepg2 cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 268(15), 10739–10745. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9258(18)82047-6
- 22) del Rio, C., Malani, P. N., & amp; Omer, S. B. (2021). Confronting the delta variant of SARS-COV-2, summer 2021. JAMA, 326(11), 1001. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.14811
- 23) Divella, R., Daniele, A., Abbate, I., Savino, E., Casamassima, P., Sciortino, G., Simone, G., Gadaleta-Caldarola, G., Fazio, V., Gadaleta, C. D., Sabbà, C., & Mazzocca, A. (2015). Circulating levels of pai-1 and SERPINE1 4G/4G polymorphism are predictive of poor prognosis in HCC patients undergoing TACE. Translational Oncology, 8(4), 273–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranon.2015.05.002
- 24) DW, D. W. (2021). Covid-19 special: Eu borders close to stop Omicron spread: DW: 21.12.2021. DW.COM. Retrieved May 20, 2022, from https://www.dw.com/en/covid-19-special-eu-borders-close-to-stop-omicronspread/av-60215792
- 25) Eriksson, P., Kallin, B., van 't Hooft, F. M., Båvenholm, P., & Hamsten, A. (1995). Allele-specific increase in basal transcription of the plasminogen-activator inhibitor 1 gene is associated with myocardial infarction. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 92(6), 1851–1855. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.92.6.1851
- 26) Eriksson, P., Kallin, B., van 't Hooft, F. M., Båvenholm, P., & Hamsten, A. (1995). Allele-specific increase in basal transcription of the plasminogen-activator inhibitor 1 gene is associated with myocardial infarction. Proceedings

of the National Academy of Sciences, 92(6), 1851–1855. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.92.6.1851

- 27) Faria, N. R., Mellan, T. A., Whittaker, C., Claro, I. M., Candido, D. da, Mishra, S., Crispim, M. A., Sales, F. C., Hawryluk, I., McCrone, J. T., Hulswit, R. J., Franco, L. A., Ramundo, M. S., de Jesus, J. G., Andrade, P. S., Coletti, T. M., Ferreira, G. M., Silva, C. A., Manuli, E. R., ... Sabino, E. C. (2021). Genomics and epidemiology of a novel SARS-COV-2 lineage in Manaus, Brazil. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.02.26.21252554
- 28) Ferraz, M. V., Moreira, E. G., Coêlho, D. F., Wallau, G. L., & amp; Lins, R. D. (2021). Immune evasion of SARS-COV-2 variants of concern is driven by low affinity to neutralizing antibodies. Chemical Communications, 57(49), 6094–6097. https://doi.org/10.1039/d1cc01747k
- 29) Fink, S. L., & Cookson, B. T. (2006). Caspase-1-dependent pore formation during pyroptosis leads to osmotic lysis of infected host macrophages. Cellular Microbiology, 8(11), 1812–1825. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-5822.2006.00751.x
- 30) Fujino, T., Nomoto, H., Kutsuna, S., Ujiie, M., Suzuki, T., Sato, R., Fujimoto, T., Kuroda, M., Wakita, T., & amp; Ohmagari, N. (2021). Novel sars-COV-2 variant in travelers from Brazil to Japan. Emerging Infectious Diseases, 27(4). https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2704.210138
- 31) GLAS, G. J., VAN DER SLUIJS, K. F., SCHULTZ, M. J., HOFSTRA, J.-J. H., VAN DER POLL, T., & amp; LEVI, M. (2013). Bronchoalveolar hemostasis in lung injury and acute respiratory distress syndrome. Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis, 11(1), 17–25. https://doi.org/10.1111/jth.12047
- 32) Gribble, J., Pruijssers, A. J., Agostini, M. L., Anderson-Daniels, J., Chappell, J. D., Lu, X., Stevens, L. J., Routh, A. L., & amp; Denison, M. R. (2020). The coronavirus proofreading exoribonuclease mediates extensive viral recombination. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.04.23.057786
- 33) Gu, H., Krishnan, P., Ng, D. Y. M., Chang, L. D. J., Liu, G. Y. Z., Cheng, S. S. M., Hui, M. M. Y., Fan, M. C. Y., Wan, J. H. L., Lau, L. H. K., Cowling, B. J., Peiris, M., & amp; Poon, L. L. M. (2022). Probable transmission of SARS-COV-

2 omicron variant in Quarantine Hotel, Hong Kong, China, November 2021. Emerging Infectious Diseases, 28(2), 460–462. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2802.212422

- 34) Gupta, D., Sharma, P., Singh, M., Kumar, M., Ethayathulla, A. S., & amp; Kaur, P. (2021). Structural and functional insights into the spike protein mutations of emerging SARS-COV-2 variants. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 78(24), 7967–7989. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-021-04008-0
- 35) Habas, K., Nganwuchu, C., Shahzad, F., Gopalan, R., Haque, M., Rahman, S., Majumder, A. A., & amp; Nasim, T. (2020). Resolution of coronavirus disease 2019 (covid-19). Expert Review of Anti-Infective Therapy, 18(12), 1201–1211. https://doi.org/10.1080/14787210.2020.1797487
- 36) Hamsten, A., Walldius, G., Szamosi, A., Blombäck, M., Faire, U. D., Dahlén, G., Landou, C., & amp; Wiman, B. (1987). Plasminogen activator inhibitor in plasma: Risk factor for recurrent myocardial infarction. The Lancet, 330(8549), 3–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(87)93050-9
- 37) Heiman, M. (1993). Complete plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 deficiency ncbi.nlm.nih.gov. Retrieved May 20, 2022, from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK447152/
- 38) Henry, M., Chomiki, N., Scarabin, P. Y., Alessi, M. C., Peiretti, F., Arveiler, D., Ferrières Jean, Evans, A., Amouyel, P., Poirier, O., Cambien François, & amp; Juhan-Vague Irène. (1997). Five frequent polymorphisms of the pai-1 gene. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 17(5), 851–858. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.atv.17.5.851
- 39) Ho, F. K., Man, K. K. C., Toshner, M., Church, C., Celis-Morales, C., Wong, I. C. K., Berry, C., Sattar, N., & amp; Pell, J. P. (2021). Thromboembolic risk in hospitalized and nonhospitalized COVID-19 patients. Mayo Clinic Proceedings, 96(10), 2587–2597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2021.07.002
- 40) Huang, C., Wang, Y., Li, X., Ren, L., Zhao, J., Hu, Y., Zhang, L., Fan, G., Xu, J., Gu, X., Cheng, Z., Yu, T., Xia, J., Wei, Y., Wu, W., Xie, X., Yin, W., Li, H., Liu, M., ... Cao, B. (2020). Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel

coronavirus in Wuhan, China. The Lancet, 395(10223), 497–506. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30183-5

- 41) JAK, B., Zanirati, G., Rodrigues, F. V., Grahl, M., Krimberg, F., Pinzetta, G., Borém, L., Savi, D., Machado, D. C., Da Costa, J. C., & amp; Marinowic, D. R. (2021). Case report: Placental maternal vascular malperfusion affecting late fetal development and Multiorgan infection caused by SARS-COV-2 in patient with pai-1 4G/5G polymorphism. Frontiers in Medicine, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2021.624166
- 42) Kasinathan, G., & amp; Sathar, J. (2020). Haematological manifestations, mechanisms of thrombosis and anti-coagulation in covid-19 disease: A Review. Annals of Medicine and Surgery, 56, 173–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amsu.2020.06.035
- 43) Katko, M., Galgoczi, E., Erdei, A., Gazdag, A., Berta, E., Bodor, M., Seres, I., Hircsu, I., Badics, A., Ujhelyi, B., Sira, L., Bhattoa, H. P., & amp; Nagy, E. V. (2021). The 4G/5G polymorphism of plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 is a predictor of moderate-to-severe thyroid eye disease. Journal of Inflammation Research, Volume 14, 1883–1890. https://doi.org/10.2147/jir.s307046
- 44) Khan, A., Zia, T., Suleman, M., Khan, T., Ali, S. S., Abbasi, A. A., Mohammad, A., & Wei, D. Q. (2021). Higher infectivity of the sars-cov-2 new variants is associated with K417N/t, E484K, and n501y mutants: An Insight from structural data. Journal of Cellular Physiology, 236(10), 7045–7057. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.30367
- 45) Khan, S. S. (2021). The central role of pai-1 in COVID-19: Thrombosis and beyond. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 65(3), 238–240. https://doi.org/10.1165/rcmb.2021-0208ed
- 46) Kidd, J. M., Cooper, G. M., Donahue, W. F., Hayden, H. S., Sampas, N., Graves, T., Hansen, N., Teague, B., Alkan, C., Antonacci, F., Haugen, E., Zerr, T., Yamada, N. A., Tsang, P., Newman, T. L., Tüzün, E., Cheng, Z., Ebling, H. M., Tusneem, N., ... Eichler, E. E. (2008). Mapping and sequencing of structural variation from eight human genomes. Nature, 453(7191), 56–64. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06862

- 47) Kim, D., Lee, J.-Y., Yang, J.-S., Kim, J. W., Kim, V. N., & amp; Chang, H. (2020). The architecture of SARS-COV-2 transcriptome. Cell, 181(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.04.011
- 48) Klinger, K. W., Winqvist, R., Riccio, A., Andreasen, P. A., Sartorio, R., Nielsen, L. S., Stuart, N., Stanislovitis, P., Watkins, P., & amp; Douglas, R. (1987).
 Plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 gene is located at region q21.3-Q22 of chromosome 7 and genetically linked with cystic fibrosis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 84(23), 8548–8552.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.84.23.8548
- 49) Klok, F. A., Kruip, M. J. H. A., van der Meer, N. J. M., Arbous, M. S., Gommers, D., Kant, K. M., Kaptein, F. H. J., van Paassen, J., Stals, M. A. M., Huisman, M. V., & amp; Endeman, H. (2020). Confirmation of the high cumulative incidence of thrombotic complications in critically ill ICU patients with covid-19: An updated analysis. Thrombosis Research, 191, 148–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.thromres.2020.04.041
- 50) Knoll, M. D., & Kamp; Wonodi, C. (2021). Oxford–AstraZeneca covid-19 vaccine efficacy. The Lancet, 397(10269), 72–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(20)32623-4
- 51) Knoops, K., Kikkert, M., Worm, S. H., Zevenhoven-Dobbe, J. C., van der Meer, Y., Koster, A. J., Mommaas, A. M., & Snijder, E. J. (2008). Sarscoronavirus replication is supported by a reticulovesicular network of modified endoplasmic reticulum. PLoS Biology, 6(9). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0060226
- 52) Kohler, H. P., & Kamp; Grant, P. J. (2000). Plasminogen-activator inhibitor type 1 and coronary artery disease. New England Journal of Medicine, 342(24), 1792– 1801. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm200006153422406
- 53) Lai, M. M. C., & amp; Cavanagh, D. (1997). The molecular biology of Coronaviruses. Advances in Virus Research, 1–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0065-3527(08)60286-9
- 54) Lapić, I., Radić Antolic, M., Horvat, I., Premužić, V., Palić, J., Rogić, D., & amp; Zadro, R. (2022). Association of polymorphisms in genes encoding

prothrombotic and cardiovascular risk factors with disease severity in COVID-19 patients: A pilot study. Journal of Medical Virology. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.27774

- 55) Levi, M., & amp; van der Poll, T. (2017). Coagulation and sepsis. Thrombosis Research, 149, 38–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.thromres.2016.11.007
- 56) Levi, M., Thachil, J., Iba, T., & amp; Levy, J. H. (2020). Coagulation abnormalities and thrombosis in patients with covid-19. The Lancet Haematology, 7(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/s2352-3026(20)30145-9
- 57) Li, X., Geng, M., Peng, Y., Meng, L., & amp; Lu, S. (2020). Molecular immune pathogenesis and diagnosis of COVID-19. Journal of Pharmaceutical Analysis, 10(2), 102–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpha.2020.03.001
- 58) LIJNEN, H. R. (2005). Pleiotropic functions of plasminogen activator inhibitor1. Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis, 3(1), 35–45.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1538-7836.2004.00827.x
- 59) Lodigiani, C., Iapichino, G., Carenzo, L., Cecconi, M., Ferrazzi, P., Sebastian, T., Kucher, N., Studt, J.-D., Sacco, C., Bertuzzi, A., Sandri, M. T., & amp; Barco, S. (2020). Venous and arterial thromboembolic complications in COVID-19 patients admitted to an academic hospital in Milan, Italy. Thrombosis Research, 191, 9–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.thromres.2020.04.024
- 60) Loskutoff, D. J., & Quigley, J. P. (2000). Pai-1, fibrosis, and the elusive provisional fibrin matrix. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 106(12), 1441–1443. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci11765
- 61) Loskutoff, D. J., van Mourik, J. A., Erickson, L. A., & amp; Lawrence, D. (1983). Detection of an unusually stable fibrinolytic inhibitor produced by bovine endothelial cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 80(10), 2956–2960. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.80.10.2956
- 62) Lu, R., Zhao, X., Li, J., Niu, P., Yang, B., Wu, H., Wang, W., Song, H., Huang, B., Zhu, N., Bi, Y., Ma, X., Zhan, F., Wang, L., Hu, T., Zhou, H., Hu, Z., Zhou, W., Zhao, L., ... Tan, W. (2020). Genomic characterisation and epidemiology of 2019 novel coronavirus: Implications for virus origins and receptor binding. The Lancet, 395(10224), 565–574. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30251-8

- 63) Lyon, C. J., & amp; Hsueh, W. A. (2003). Effect of plasminogen activator inhibitor–1 in diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease. The American Journal of Medicine, 115(8), 62–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2003.08.014
- 64) Madách, K., Aladzsity, I., Szilágyi, Á., Fust, G., Gál, J., Pénzes, I., &
 Prohászka, Z. (2010). 4G/5G polymorphism of PAI-1 gene is associated with multiple organ dysfunction and septic shock in pneumonia induced severe sepsis:
 Prospective, observational, genetic study. Critical Care, 14(2).
 https://doi.org/10.1186/cc8992
- 65) Majumder, J., & amp; Minko, T. (2021). Recent developments on therapeutic and diagnostic approaches for covid-19. The AAPS Journal, 23(1). https://doi.org/10.1208/s12248-020-00532-2
- 66) Masters, P. S. (2006). The molecular biology of Coronaviruses. Advances in Virus Research, 193–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0065-3527(06)66005-3
- 67) McMahan, K., Giffin, V., Tostanoski, L. H., Chung, B., Siamatu, M., Suthar, M. S., Halfmann, P., Kawaoka, Y., Piedra-Mora, C., Martinot, A. J., Kar, S., Andersen, H., Lewis, M. G., & amp; Barouch, D. H. (2022). Reduced pathogenicity of the SARS-COV-2 omicron variant in Hamsters. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.01.02.474743
- 68) Mohandas, S., Yadav, P. D., Shete, A., Nyayanit, D., Sapkal, G., Lole, K., & Gupta, N. (2021). SARS-COV-2 delta variant pathogenesis and host response in Syrian hamsters. Viruses, 13(9), 1773. https://doi.org/10.3390/v13091773
- 69) Munster, V. J., Flagg, M., Singh, M., Williamson, B. N., Feldmann, F., Pérez-Pérez, L., Brumbaugh, B., Holbrook, M. G., Adney, D. R., Okumura, A., Hanley, P. W., Smith, B. J., Lovaglio, J., Anzick, S. L., Martens, C., van Doremalen, N., Saturday, G., & amp; de Wit, E. (2021). Subtle differences in the pathogenicity of SARS-COV-2 variants of concern B.1.1.7 and B.1.351 in rhesus macaques. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.05.07.443115
- 70) NCBI. (2017). DbSNP's human build 150 has doubled the amount of refsnp records! - NCBI insights. National Center for Biotechnology Information.

Retrieved May 20, 2022, from

https://ncbiinsights.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/2017/05/08/dbsnps-human-build-150-hasdoubled-the-amount-of-refsnp-records/

- 71) Newey, P. N. S. (2021, April 16). Arrival of India's 'double mutation' adds to variant woes, but threat posed remains unclear. The Telegraph. Retrieved May 20, 2022, from https://www.telegraph.co.uk/global-health/science-anddisease/arrival-indias-double-mutation-adds-variant-woes-threat-posed/
- 72) NIH. (2007). Understanding human genetic variation National Institutes of Health. Retrieved May 20, 2022, from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK20363/
- 73) Oxley, T. J., Mocco, J., Majidi, S., Kellner, C. P., Shoirah, H., Singh, I. P., De Leacy, R. A., Shigematsu, T., Ladner, T. R., Yaeger, K. A., Skliut, M., Weinberger, J., Dangayach, N. S., Bederson, J. B., Tuhrim, S., & amp; Fifi, J. T. (2020). Large-vessel stroke as a presenting feature of covid-19 in the young. New England Journal of Medicine, 382(20). https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmc2009787
- 74) Peacock, T. P., Goldhill, D. H., Zhou, J., Baillon, L., Frise, R., Swann, O. C., Kugathasan, R., Penn, R., Brown, J. C., Sanchez-David, R. Y., Braga, L., Williamson, M. K., Hassard, J. A., Staller, E., Hanley, B., Osborn, M., Giacca, M., Davidson, A. D., Matthews, D. A., & amp; Barclay, W. S. (2021). The furin cleavage site in the SARS-COV-2 spike protein is required for transmission in ferrets. Nature Microbiology, 6(7), 899–909. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-021-00908-w
- 75) Perlman, S., & Kamp; Netland, J. (2009). Coronaviruses post-SARS: Update on replication and pathogenesis. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 7(6), 439–450. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2147
- 76) Rapkiewicz, A. V., Mai, X., Carsons, S. E., Pittaluga, S., Kleiner, D. E., Berger, J. S., Thomas, S., Adler, N. M., Charytan, D. M., Gasmi, B., Hochman, J. S., & Reynolds, H. R. (2020). Megakaryocytes and platelet-fibrin thrombi characterize multi-organ thrombosis at autopsy in covid-19: A case series. EClinicalMedicine, 24, 100434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100434

- 77) Rauf, A., Abu-Izneid, T., Olatunde, A., Ahmed Khalil, A., Alhumaydhi, F. A., Tufail, T., Shariati, M. A., Rebezov, M., Almarhoon, Z. M., Mabkhot, Y. N., Alsayari, A., & amp; Rengasamy, K. R. (2020). Covid-19 pandemic: Epidemiology, Etiology, conventional and non-conventional therapies. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(21), 8155. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17218155
- 78) Robertson, S. (2021, June 28). Lambda lineage of SARS-COV-2 has potential to become variant of concern. News. Retrieved May 20, 2022, from https://www.news-medical.net/news/20210627/Lambda-lineage-of-SARS-CoV-2-has-potential-to-become-variant-of-concern.aspx
- 79) Robson, F., Khan, K. S., Le, T. K., Paris, C., Demirbag, S., Barfuss, P., Rocchi, P., & amp; Ng, W.-L. (2020). Coronavirus RNA proofreading: Molecular basis and therapeutic targeting. Molecular Cell, 80(6), 1136–1138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2020.11.048
- 80) Rodrigue-Gervais, I. G., Labbé, K., Dagenais, M., Dupaul-Chicoine, J., Champagne, C., Morizot, A., Skeldon, A., Brincks, E. L., Vidal, S. M., Griffith, T. S., & amp; Saleh, M. (2014). Cellular inhibitor of apoptosis protein CIAP2 protects against pulmonary tissue necrosis during influenza virus infection to promote host survival. Cell Host & amp; Microbe, 15(1), 23–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2013.12.003
- 81) Sabater Molina, M., Nicolás Rocamora, E., Bendicho, A. I., Vázquez, E. G., Zorio, E., Rodriguez, F. D., Gil Ortuño, C., Rodríguez, A. I., Sánchez-López, A. J., Jara Rubio, R., Moreno-Docón, A., Marcos, P. J., García Pavía, P., Villa, R. B., & amp; Gimeno Blanes, J. R. (2022). Polymorphisms in ace, ACE2, AGTR1 genes and severity of COVID-19 disease. PLOS ONE, 17(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0263140
- 82) Sanjuán, R. (2016). Viral mutation rates. Virus Evolution: Current Research and Future Directions, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.21775/9781910190234.01
- 83) Su, S., Chen, S., Zhao, J., Huang, J., Wang, X., Chen, R., & amp; Gu, D. (2006).Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 gene. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and

Vascular Biology, 26(4), 948–954.

https://doi.org/10.1161/01.atv.0000204731.17646.f2

- 84) Tegally, H., Wilkinson, E., Giovanetti, M., Iranzadeh, A., Fonseca, V., Giandhari, J., Doolabh, D., Pillay, S., San, E. J., Msomi, N., Mlisana, K., von Gottberg, A., Walaza, S., Allam, M., Ismail, A., Mohale, T., Glass, A. J., Engelbrecht, S., Van Zyl, G., ... de Oliveira, T. (2021). Detection of a SARS-COV-2 variant of concern in South Africa. Nature, 592(7854), 438–443. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03402-9
- 85) Tian, D., Sun, Y., Zhou, J., & amp; Ye, Q. (2021). The global epidemic of the SARS-COV-2 delta variant, key spike mutations and immune escape. Frontiers in Immunology, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.751778
- 86) Varga, Z., Flammer, A. J., Steiger, P., Haberecker, M., Andermatt, R., Zinkernagel, A. S., Mehra, M. R., Schuepbach, R. A., Ruschitzka, F., & Moch, H. (2020). Endothelial cell infection and endotheliitis in COVID-19. The Lancet, 395(10234), 1417–1418. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30937-5
- 87) Vatseba, B., & amp; Virstyuk., N. (2021). Association between FGB-455 g/a and PAI-1-675 5g/4g gene polymorphisms and COVID-19 severity. Research and Practice in Thrombosis and Haemostasis.
- 88) Voloch, C. M., Silva F, R. da, de Almeida, L. G., Cardoso, C. C., Brustolini, O. J., Gerber, A. L., Guimarães, A. P., Mariani, D., Costa, R. M., Ferreira, O. C., Cavalcanti, A. C., Frauches, T. S., de Mello, C. M., Galliez, R. M., Faffe, D. S., Castiñeiras, T. M., Tanuri, A., & amp; de Vasconcelos, A. T. (2020). Genomic characterization of a novel SARS-COV-2 lineage from Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.12.23.20248598
- 89) Wang, L., Berger, N. A., Kaelber, D. C., Davis, P. B., Volkow, N. D., & amp;
 Xu, R. (2022). Comparison of outcomes from COVID infection in pediatric and adult patients before and after the emergence of Omicron. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.12.30.21268495
- 90) Wang, X., Xu, W., Hu, G., Xia, S., Sun, Z., Liu, Z., Xie, Y., Zhang, R., Jiang, S., & amp; Lu, L. (2020). SARS-COV-2 infects T lymphocytes through its spike

protein-mediated membrane fusion. Cellular & amp; Molecular Immunology. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41423-020-0424-9

- 91) Weiss, S. R., & Leibowitz, J. L. (2011). Coronavirus pathogenesis.
 Advances in Virus Research, 85–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-385885-6.00009-2
- 92) Weiss, S. R., & Navas-Martin, S. (2005). Coronavirus pathogenesis and the emerging pathogen severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews, 69(4), 635–664. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.69.4.635-664.2005
- 93) WHO, W. H. O. (2021). Tracking sars-COV-2 variants. World Health Organization. Retrieved May 20, 2022, from https://www.who.int/activities/tracking-SARS-CoV-2-variants
- 94) Wong, R. S. (2003). Haematological manifestations in patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome: Retrospective analysis. BMJ, 326(7403), 1358–1362. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.326.7403.1358
- 95) World Health Organization. (n.d.). Who coronavirus (COVID-19) dashboard.
 World Health Organization. Retrieved May 20, 2022, from https://covid19.who.int/
- 96) Wölfel, R., Corman, V. M., Guggemos, W., Seilmaier, M., Zange, S., Müller, M. A., Niemeyer, D., Jones, T. C., Vollmar, P., Rothe, C., Hoelscher, M., Bleicker, T., Brünink, S., Schneider, J., Ehmann, R., Zwirglmaier, K., Drosten, C., & amp; Wendtner, C. (2020). Virological assessment of hospitalized patients with Covid-2019. Nature, 581(7809), 465–469. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2196-x
- 97) Xia, X. (2021). Domains and functions of spike protein in SARS-COV-2 in the context of vaccine design. Viruses, 13(1), 109. https://doi.org/10.3390/v13010109
- 98) Yang, S., Hemarajata, P., Hilt, E. E., Price, T. K., Garner, O. B., & amp; Green, N. M. (2021). Investigation of SARS-COV-2 epsilon variant and hospitalization status by genomic surveillance in a single large health system during the 2020-2021 Winter Surge in Southern California. American Journal of Clinical Pathology, 157(5), 649–652. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcp/aqab203

- 99) Yıldırım, M. E., Karakuş, S., Kurtulgan, H. K., Kılıçgün, H., Erşan, S., & Bakır, S. (2017). The Association of Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor Type 1 (PAI-1) level and pai-1 4G/5G gene polymorphism with the formation and the grade of endometrial cancer. Biochemical Genetics, 55(4), 314–321. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10528-017-9796-7
- Zhao, H., Lu, L., Peng, Z., Chen, L.-L., Meng, X., Zhang, C., Ip, J. D., Chan, W.-M., Chu, A. W.-H., Chan, K.-H., Jin, D.-Y., Chen, H., Yuen, K.-Y., & To, K. K.-W. (2022). SARS-COV-2 omicron variant shows less efficient replication and fusion activity when compared with Delta variant in TMPRSS2expressed cells. Emerging Microbes & Infections, 11(1), 277–283. https://doi.org/10.1080/22221751.2021.2023329
- 101) Zhao, J., Zhao, J., & amp; Perlman, S. (2010). T cell responses are required for protection from clinical disease and for virus clearance in severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-infected mice. Journal of Virology, 84(18), 9318–9325. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.01049-10
- Zuo, Y., Warnock, M., Harbaugh, A., Yalavarthi, S., Gockman, K., Zuo, M., Madison, J. A., Knight, J. S., Kanthi, Y., & amp; Lawrence, D. A. (2021).
 Plasma tissue plasminogen activator and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in hospitalized COVID-19 patients. Scientific Reports, 11(1).
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-80010-z

Thesis ORIGINALITY REPORT 10% 9% % % STUDENT PAPERS SIMILARITY INDEX INTERNET SOURCES PUBLICATIONS PRIMARY SOURCES docs.neu.edu.tr 1% 1 Internet Source www.cellmolbiol.org 1% 2 Internet Source hippokratia.gr <1% 3 Internet Source <**1**% Ferdinando M. Milazzo, Antonio Chaves-Sanjuan, Olga Minenkova, Daniela Santapaola et al. "Spike mutation resilient scFv76 antibody counteracts SARS-CoV-2 lung damage upon aerosol delivery", Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, 2022 Publication <**1**% <**1**% www.europeanreview.org 5 Internet Source 6 Kuanfeng Xu, Xiaoyun Liu, Fan Yang, Dai Cui, Yun Shi, Chong Shen, Wei Tang, Tao Yang. "PAI-1 -675 4G/5G Polymorphism in Association with Diabetes and Diabetic

| | Study", PLoS ONE, 2013 | |
|----|--|--------------|
| 7 | Wen-feng Gao, Ying-bo Guo, Yu Bai, Xin-yu Ding, Yong-ji Yan, Zhen-qi Wu. "Association between PAI-1 4G/5G polymorphism and diabetic nephropathy: a meta-analysis in the Chinese population", International Urology and Nephrology, 2016 Publication | < 1 % |
| 8 | Selcuk Gormez, Refik Erdim, Gokce Akan, Barıs Caynak, Cihan Duran, Demet Gunay, Volkan Sozer, Fatmahan Atalar. "Relationships between visceral/subcutaneous adipose tissue FABP4 expression and coronary atherosclerosis in patients with metabolic syndrome", Cardiovascular Pathology, 2020 Publication | < 1 % |
| 9 | Hope R. Lapointe, Francis Mwimanzi, Peter K. Cheung, Yurou Sang et al. "Serial infection with SARS-CoV-2 Omicron BA.1 and BA.2 following three-dose COVID-19 vaccination", Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, 2022 Publication | < 1 % |
| 10 | livrepository.liverpool.ac.uk | <1% |
| | www.anrs.fr | _1 |

| 12 | Alexandra S Shadrina, Mariya A Smetanina, Ekaterina A Sokolova, Darya V Shamovskaya et al. " Allele rs2010963 C of the gene is associated with the decreased risk of primary varicose veins in ethnic Russians ", Phlebology: The Journal of Venous Disease, 2016 Publication | <1% |
|----|--|--------------|
| 13 | Enas S. Essa, Rabab A. El Wahsh. "Association Between -675 4G/5G Insertion/Deletion Polymorphism and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease ", COPD: Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, 2016 Publication | < 1 % |
| 14 | assets.researchsquare.com | <1% |
| 15 | Magen R. Poindexter, Tingting Xu, Cynthia M. Swift, Caleb M Proctor et al. "Comparison of mechanical homogenization versus enzymatic digestion sample preparation methodologies for SARS-CoV-2 detection in saliva for surveillance of variants of concern on the University of Tennessee campus in early 2021", Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, 2022 Publication | < 1 % |
| | | |

| 17 | www.endocrino.org.br | < 1 % |
|----|--|--------------|
| 18 | etheses.whiterose.ac.uk | <1% |
| 19 | www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov | < 1 % |
| 20 | Samira Tabaei, Melodi Omraninava, Sahar Mehranfar, Morteza Motallebnezhad, Seyedeh Samaneh Tabaee. "Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1 Polymorphisms and Risk of Coronary Artery Disease: Evidence From Meta-Analysis and Trial Sequential Analysis", Biochemical Genetics, 2022 Publication | < 1 % |
| 21 | cbd-edibless.com | <1% |
| 22 | repositorio.unesp.br Internet Source | < 1 % |
| 23 | www.oer.unn.edu.ng | < 1 % |
| 24 | Aniket Prabhudesai, Shrimati Shetty, Kanjaksha Ghosh, Bipin Kulkarni. "Investigation of Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) 4G/5G promoter polymorphism in Indian venous thrombosis | < 1 % |

| | patients: A case-control study", European Journal of <u>Haematology</u> , 2017 Publication | |
|----|--|--------------|
| 25 | neu.edu.tr Internet Source | <1% |
| 26 | archive.org | <1% |
| 27 | WWW.SCCj-Sa.org | <1% |
| 28 | Ida Agersnap, Peter H. Nissen, Anne-Mette Hvas. "The Role of Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor Type 1 (PAI-1) in Placenta-Mediated Pregnancy Complications: A Systematic Review", Seminars in Thrombosis and Hemostasis, 2022 Publication | < 1 % |
| 29 | hdl.handle.net | <1% |
| 30 | Kamil Adamczyk, Michał Herman, Janusz Fraczek, Robert Piec et al. "Sensitivity and specificity of prediction models based on gustatory disorders in diagnosing COVID-19 patients: a case-control study", Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, 2020 Publication | < 1 % |
| 31 | Xin Hu, Xin <u>Zan, Zhiyi Xie, Yunke</u> Li, Sen Lin, <u>Hao</u> Li, Chao You. "Association Between | <1% |



| 37 | Katharina <u>Röltgen</u> , Sandra C.A. Nielsen, Oscar Silva, <u>Sheren F. Younes</u> et al. "Immune imprinting, breadth of variant recognition, and germinal center response in human SARS- CoV-2 infection and vaccination", Cell, 2022 Publication | <1% |
|----|---|--------------|
| 38 | Rekha Khandia, Shailja Singhal, Taha Alqahtani, Mohammad Amjad Kamal et al. "Emergence of SARS-CoV-2 Omicron (B.1.1.529) variant, salient features, high global health concerns and strategies to counter it amid ongoing COVID-19 pandemic", Environmental Research, 2022 Publication | < 1 % |
| 39 | Ju-Han Lee, Younghye Kim, Jung-Woo Choi, Young-Sik Kim. "Clinicopathological Significance of Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1 Promoter 4G/5G Polymorphism in Breast Cancer: A Meta-analysis", Archives of Medical Research, 2013 Publication | < 1 % |
| 40 | era.ed.ac.uk Internet Source | <1% |
| 41 | slideplayer.com | <1% |
| 42 | tsukuba.repo.nii.ac.jp | < 1 % |

| 43 | eprints.usm.my Internet Source | <1% |
|----|---|--------------|
| 44 | ida.mtholyoke.edu | <1% |
| 45 | journals.plos.org | <1% |
| 46 | www.oncotarget.com | <1% |
| 47 | Www.dovepress.com | <1% |
| 48 | open.metu.edu.tr Internet Source | <1% |
| 49 | www.medrxiv.org | <1% |
| 50 | www.nejm.org | <1% |
| 51 | Haohui Deng, Haowei Lin, Yuzhen Mai, Huiyuan Liu, Weilie Chen. "Clinical features and predictive factors related to liver injury in SARS-CoV-2 Delta and Omicron variant- infected patients", European Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 2022 Publication | < 1 % |
| 52 | M. Vázquez—Del Mercado, T. A. <u>García</u> — Cobian, J. F. Muñoz Valle, N. Torres—Carrillo | <1% |

| | et al. "Genotype Ser /Ser of -2 polymorphism Ser /Cys is associated with anti-phospholipid syndrome and systemic lupus erythematosus in a familial case: comparison with healthy controls ", Scandinavian Journal of Rheumatology, 2009 Publication | |
|----|--|--------------|
| 53 | biotechnologyforbiofuels.biomedcentral.com | <1% |
| 54 | ebin.pub Internet Source | <1% |
| 55 | edoc.ub.uni-muenchen.de | <1% |
| 56 | portlandpress.com | <1% |
| 57 | www.mdpi.com | <1% |
| 58 | Chun Huai Luo, C Paul Morris, Jaiprasath Sachithanandham, Adannaya Amadi et al. "Infection with the SARS-CoV-2 Delta Variant is Associated with Higher Recovery of Infectious Virus Compared to the Alpha Variant in both Unvaccinated and Vaccinated Individuals", Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2021 | < 1 % |

| 59 | Devadathan Valiyamangalath Sethumadhavan, CA Jabeena, Gayathri Govindaraju, Aparna Soman, Arumugam Rajavelu. "The severity of SARS-CoV-2 infection is dictated by host factors? Epigenetic perspectives", Current Research in Microbial Sciences, 2021 Publication | < 1 % |
|----|---|--------------|
| 60 | H. R. LIJNEN. "Pleiotropic functions of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1", Journal of Thrombosis and <u>Haemostasis</u> , 1/2005 Publication | <1% |
| 61 | bmcgenomics.biomedcentral.com | <1% |
| 62 | bmcpediatr.biomedcentral.com | <1% |
| 63 | dissertations.ub.rug.nl | <1% |
| 64 | espace.library.uq.edu.au | < 1 % |
| 65 | krishikosh.egranth.ac.in | <1% |
| 66 | malariajournal.biomedcentral.com | <1% |
| 67 | pubannotation.org | < 1 % |

| 68 | www.freepatentsonline.com | < 1 % |
|----|---|--------------|
| 69 | www.nature.com | <1% |
| 70 | www.researchgate.net | <1% |
| 71 | www.researchsquare.com | <1% |
| 72 | E Diamanti-Kandarakis. "The prevalence of 4G5G polymorphism of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) gene in polycystic ovarian syndrome and its association with plasma PAI-1 levels", European Journal of Endocrinology, 06/01/2004 Publication | <1% |
| 73 | José Adão Carvalho Nascimento Junior, Anamaria Mendonca Santos, Lucindo José Quintans-Júnior, Cristiani Isabel Banderó Walker et al. "SARS, MERS and SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) treatment: a patent review", Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Patents, 2020 Publication | < 1 % |
| 74 | Warish Ahmed, Nicola Angel, Janette Edson, Kyle Bibby et al. "First confirmed detection of SARS-CoV-2 in untreated wastewater in Australia: A proof of concept for the | < 1 % |
| 68 | www.freepatentsonline.com | < 1 % |
|----|---|--------------|
| 69 | www.nature.com | <1% |
| 70 | www.researchgate.net | <1% |
| 71 | www.researchsquare.com | <1% |
| 72 | E Diamanti-Kandarakis. "The prevalence of 4G5G polymorphism of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) gene in polycystic ovarian syndrome and its association with plasma PAI-1 levels", European Journal of Endocrinology, 06/01/2004 Publication | < 1 % |
| 73 | José Adão Carvalho Nascimento Junior, Anamaria Mendonca Santos, Lucindo José Quintans-Júnior, Cristiani Isabel Banderó Walker et al. "SARS, MERS and SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) treatment: a patent review", Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Patents, 2020 Publication | < 1 % |
| 74 | Warish Ahmed, Nicola Angel, Janette Edson, Kyle Bibby et al. "First confirmed detection of SARS-CoV-2 in untreated wastewater in Australia: A proof of concept for the | < 1 % |

| | Extraction | on from I Laborato | Dry Swab ory, 2020 | s", Cold Sp | ring | |
|----|--|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|---|------------------------------|--------------|
| 79 | Zhan Hu Qiaopei Inhibitor | uang, We Chen et -1 Polym | enqian Ta al. "Plas torphism | ang, <u>Zhikun</u> minogen Ac Confers a | Liang, tivator Genetic | < 1 % |
| | Contribu Spontan Analysis Publication | ition to the eous Ab ", Repro | ne Risk o ortion: A ductive S | of Recurrent In Updated Sciences, 20 | Meta-)17 | |



Evren Moğol

evrenmogol@gmail.com|+90 539 104 2968| Bursa, Turkey

EDUCATION

Near East University Msc. of Molecular Medicine September 2020 - June 2022

3.95GPA

Nicosia, TRNC

Gothenburg, Sweden

University of Gothenburg

Erasmus Programme January 2017 – July 2017 Plant biology, biotechnology and eukaryotic molecular biology modules

Sabancı University

Bsc. of Molecular. Biology, Genetics and Bioengineering September 2013 - December 2019

Final Science High School 2009 - 2013

Bursa, Turkey 3.7 GPA

Istanbul, Turkey

2.65GPA

EXPERIENCE

Ergoren Lab.

Laboratory Assistant, Near East University Medical Genetics Lab

Nicosia, TRNC August 2020 – June 2022

Thesis Title: Association between PAI-1 4G/5G polymorphism and COVID-19 patients who infected with different SARS-CoV-2 variants.

- Planned and executed my own thesis project by utilizing PCR, RFLP and gel electrophoresis methods
- Presented my research at the international student congress.

Gozuacık Lab.

Laboratory Assistant,

Sabanci University Faculty of Engineering and Natural Sciences

- · Gained experience in CRISPR-Cas9, bacteria cloning, transfection, qPCR analysis, western blot analysis and mammalian cell culture.
- Did my own research on cancer metastasis and its relation with the autophagy process.

Sanofi Pharmaceuticals

Internship,

Regulatory Affairs Department

- · Explored the process of industrial scale pharmaceutical production and the R&D facility
- Translated over 100 documents into English
- · Wrote and proofread medication prospectuses of 5 medicines to be approved by the Turkish Ministry of Health

Istanbul, Turkey

June 2018 – August 2018

Istanbul, Turkey

September 2018 – January 2020

Mine Sibel Gurun Lab.

Laboratory Assistant,

Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Pharmacology

- Learned the <u>luquid</u> chromatography-mass spectrometry technique.
- · Gathered leafs from urban/suburban areas to find out the reason of declining endemic silk beetle population

Unal Egeli Lab.

Laboratory Assistant, <u>Uludag</u> University School of Medicine, Department of Pharmacology

Gained my initial laboratory experience

Civil Involvement Project

Volunteer

Gebze Animal Shelter | Kurtköy Primary School

- Provided additional assistance and raised funds for the local animal shelter
- Taught animal welfare to primary school children.

SKILLS/INTERESTS/VOLUNTEER WORK/ADDITIONAL AFFILIATIONS/ETC

Volunteer neighborhood representative in the Bursa City Council

Bursa, Turkey June 2019 – Present

 Bi-weekly meetings to discuss the present problems and how to provide solutions. E.g. Provide food for animal shelters and street animals, organization of soup stands in populated areas.

.

Tennis Instructor

Role

City, ST

- Month 20xx Month 20xx
- Role doesn't have to be an official title that was given to you, just think about what you did. Projects are NOT
 just random school projects, but very elaborate or personal projects you're proud of

Languages

Fluent in Turkish Fluent in English Beginner in German

Bursa, Turkey

Bursa, Turkey

Istanbul, Turkey

June 2016 – September 2016

June 2015 – September 2015

September 2013 - June 2014

74